Barriers to and Opportunities for Indigenous Involvement in the Management of Chronic Wasting Disease in Alberta, Canada

by

Hannah Cunningham

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Rural Sociology

Department of Resource Economics and Environmental Sociology University of Alberta

© Hannah Cunningham, 2021

ABSTRACT

The management of Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) in Alberta is a complex issue that affects multiple stakeholders, including Indigenous communities who highly value the affected species both nutritionally and culturally. Despite the relevancy of CWD management to the livelihoods of these Indigenous communities, particularly in central Alberta where the disease is an immediate threat, the focus of much of the existing research on the social aspects of CWD, as well as the provincial monitoring program, have been recreational hunters. The purpose of this thesis is to answer three questions: how do Indigenous hunters in central Alberta feel about CWD, what are the barriers that Indigenous people in central Alberta face to participating in current CWD management, and what are the best practices that could be utilized to develop a community-based monitoring program for CWD in Alberta? This thesis uses the concepts of knowledge and power, access theory, and the perception of risk to identify why the current CWD monitoring program in Alberta does not adequately reflect the views of Indigenous communities impacted by this disease, and presents community-based monitoring as a potential solution. Through a research partnership with Samson Cree Nation in Maskwacîs, Alberta, Indigenous hunters expressed that they were concerned about CWD and that this concern has some affect on where they choose to hunt, adding to existing barriers to accessing safe traditional foods. A series of best practices for the development of a community-based monitoring program for CWD in Alberta were developed with the aims of overcoming knowledge and cultural gaps that create barriers to participating in the provincial monitoring program, managing the risks associated with CWD, and increasing community confidence in traditional foods.

ii

PREFACE

This thesis is an original work by Hannah Cunningham. This research project received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, the project name being "Tracking Change - Traditional Knowledge and Wildlife Health Monitoring in Alberta", Pro00100730.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I firstly want to thank Dr. Brenda Parlee for being an excellent supervisor, for giving me the opportunity to work on this project, and for helping me become more independent and confident in my own work. Thank you for all the extra opportunities along the way, for introducing me to so many wonderful people, and for all your support.

Robbie Potts, this project would be nothing without you! You are a fantastic research partner and friend, thank you for teaching me so much and for being patient with me. Your passion for this work inspires me every day. Kacey Yellowbird, thank you for sharing your knowledge, experiences, and expertise with the project and myself, you have been so gracious.

Mom and Dad, thank you for always supporting me in my pursuits and being the best parents. Nathan, thank you for being the most supportive partner I could have asked for and for being my cheerleader.

Liz, Andrea, and Sonak, I don't know if I could have finished this without you all! I'm neverendingly grateful that we ended up in this together. Thank you for your constant support, friendship, and supply of memes. You're all amazing and I'm in awe of you always. Sixth floor cubicles have my heart!

Funding Acknowledgement:

We acknowledge funding for this research from Genome Canada, Alberta Prion Research Institute and Alberta Agriculture and Forestry through Genome Alberta and the University of Alberta in support of the Systems Biology and Molecular Ecology of Chronic Wasting Disease project.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1.0: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Theoretical Framework	5
1.2.1 Knowledge and Power	5
1.2.2 Access Theory	0
1.2.3 Risk Perception	
1.3 Literature Review	7
1.3.1 Chronic Wasting Disease 1'	7
1.3.2 Indigenous Food Security in Canada	
1.3.3 Hunting and Food Sharing in Cree Culture	
1.3.4 Conventional Wildlife Management	
CHAPTER 2.0: METHODOLOGY	
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Decolonizing Research	
2.3 Community-based Participatory Research	6
2.4 Project Scoping	
2.5 Participant Recruitment	9
2.6 Data collection	
2.6.1 Surveys	0
2.7 Research Agreement	
2.8 Consent Forms	
2.9 Compensation	2
2.10 Analysis	
2.10.1 Database Creation	
2.10.2 Verification with Community Partners	4
2.11 Data Storage	
2.12 Benefits for Participations	
2.13 Limitations	
2.14 Author Positionality	5
CHAPTER 3.0: Local perspectives on wildlife health and Chronic Wasting Disease in	
Maskwacîs, Alberta	8
3.1 Introduction	8
3.2 Conceptual Foundation and Research Themes	9
3.2.1 Indigenous Food Security	
3.2.2 Chronic Wasting Disease	1
3.2.3. Access Theory	
3.2.4 Risk Perception	4
3.3 Setting	6
3.4 Methods	8
3.5 Results	1
3.5.1 Harvest, Consumption, Meat Sharing	
3.5.2 Knowledge and Perceptions about CWD	5
3.6 Discussion	

3.6.1 Harvest Levels, Food Consumption, and Importance of Cervid Species to Loca	ıl
Diets and Culture	. 62
3.6.2 Risk Perception of CWD	. 63
3.6.3 Risk Management and Community-Based Monitoring	. 67
3.7 Conclusions	. 69
CHAPTER 4.0: Community-based monitoring: A tool for expanding knowledge on	
Chronic Wasting Disease	. 71
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Literature Review	. 73
4.2.1 Social-Ecological Approach	. 73
4.2.2 Indigenous Rights and Wildlife Harvesting	. 74
4.2.3 Chronic Wasting Disease	. 75
4.2.4.Community-Based Monitoring Based on Indigenous Knowledge	. 76
4.3 Setting	. 79
4.3.1 The Chronic Wasting Disease Context	. 82
4.3.2 Methods	
4.4 Findings - How-to: Community-based Monitoring of CWD	. 88
4.4.1 Ensuring Guidance from Indigenous Leadership	. 88
4.4.2 Respecting Indigenous Rights to Harvest and Other Treaty Rights	. 88
4.4.4 Broader Social-Ecological Approach	. 89
4.4.5 Barriers to Learning and Sharing Knowledge	. 90
4.4.6 Cultural Protocols for Sharing Knowledge	
4.4.7 Respecting the Cultural Relationships to Place	. 94
4.4.8 Working with Hunters - Creating Tools	
4.4.9 Communication and Relationship Building with the Province of Alberta	
4.5 Discussion	. 97
4.6 Conclusion	
CHAPTER 5.0: Conclusion	103
5.1 Thesis Overview	103
5.2 Study Significance and Future Research	
REFERENCES	106
APPENDIX A: Survey Participant Information Sheet	125
APPENDIX B: Survey Consent Form	
APPENDIX C: Tracking Change: Wildlife Health Survey	128

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3-1: Mechanisms of access in relation to CWD management in Alberta	44
Table 3-2: Number of hunting trips per animal in the past 6 months	54
Table 3-3: Reports of wild meat sharing with family and community (percent)	55
Table 3-4: Level of concern about CWD per animal species	58
Table 3-5: CWD concern and hunting choices	61
Table 3-6: Opinions on current and past CWD management	61
Table 4-1: Principles of Samson Cree Nation governance	81
Table 4-2: Project design goals and outcomes	92

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3-1: Map of current Alberta WMUs with CWD present	48
Figure 3-2: Qualitative responses to how the hunting areas of respondents have changed over time	53
Figure 3-3: Number of animals harvested in the last 6 months, per species	54
Figure 3-4: Weekly rate of wild meat consumption (percentage)	55
Figure 3-5: Amount of information on CWD received by survey respondents	56
Figure 3-6: Sources for information on CWD	57
Figure 3-7: Level of concern about CWD	59
Figure 3-8: Level of CWD concern by hunting experience	59
Figure 3-9: Level of CWD concern by mule deer hunting frequency	60
Figure 3-10: Level of CWD concern by white-tailed deer hunting frequency	60
Figure 4-1: Range of positive CWD cases in Alberta in 2019	83
Figure 4-2: Chart showing research activities conducted between SCN and the research team to initiate the development of a community-based monitoring program for CWD	87

ACRONYMS

BSE: Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy CBM: Community-Based Monitoring CBPR: Community-Based Participatory Research CFIA: Canadian Food Inspection Agency CWD: Chronic Wasting Disease SCN: Samson Cree Nation TEK: Traditional Ecological Knowledge TSE: Transmissible Spongiform Encephalopathy T7FNCA: Treaty 7 First Nations Chiefs' Association vCJD: Variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease WIN: Wildlife Identification Number WMU: Wildlife Management Unit

CHAPTER 1.0: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Introduction

The health of humans, wildlife, and domestic animals are linked through the diseases we share (Decker et al. 2012; One Health Initiative, n.d.). This inter-species connection is the foundation of the threat that Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD), an unpredictable and fatal disease affecting animals of the Cervidae family, holds over the province of Alberta, and particularly the Indigenous peoples who rely on these species as a source of traditional food (Parlee et al. 2021; Willows 2005). This objective of this research is to answer the questions how do Indigenous hunters in central Alberta feel about CWD, and what are the barriers to participating in CWD management that Indigenous people in central Alberta face? Further, what are some of the best practices that could be utilized to develop a community-based monitoring program for CWD in Alberta? In answering these questions, this thesis explores the concepts of knowledge and power, resource access, and risk perception to provide insights on the local risk perception of CWD in Maskwacîs, Alberta, how Indigenous hunters are engaged through the Government of Alberta's CWD management program, and suggestions for how to use community-based monitoring as a tool for knowledge co-creation in the complex field of wildlife management.

This thesis is written in five chapters, and is constructed in a paper-based format, meaning that Chapters Three and Four are written in stand-alone paper format with the intent of future publication. The purpose of this first introductory chapter is to introduce the theoretical frameworks used in this thesis, as well as introduce the concepts that are used in both paper chapters. The literature review provides a description of the disease of concern, CWD, as well the issue of Indigenous food security in Canada, and descriptions of the role of hunting and sharing of food in Cree culture, conventional wildlife management on a broad and CWD-specific scale, and a description of co-management and community-based monitoring.

Chapter Two, Methodology, provides a description of how this thesis research was developed and executed. Two guiding methodologies, decolonizing research and community-based participatory research, are first discussed to provide a foundation for how the research activities were developed. The sections on research scoping describes how my supervisor and I built relationships with people from the First Nations of Maskwacîs, and specifically Samson Cree Nation, and how together we developed the scope of the project. The participant recruitment and data collection sections describe the process through which we connected with hunters from Maskwacîs and how data on perceptions of wildlife health and CWD were collected through a survey tool. A description of how the survey data was analyzed follows. Chapter Two also provides a description of this project's adherence to proper research ethics through the development of a research agreement, the compensation of participants for their time and shared knowledge, and how the resulting data is shared and stored. Finally, potential benefits to participants are described, and I provide a statement on my own positionality as the author of this thesis.

Chapter Three, titled "Local perspectives on wildlife health and Chronic Wasting Disease in Maskwacîs, Alberta" is the first of two paper chapters. This chapter addresses the lack of Indigenous perspectives in social research about CWD, despite the importance of the affected cervid species both nutritionally and culturally for the Cree of central Alberta. Using data collected through a survey conducted with 31 Indigenous hunters from the Maskwacîs region, this chapter provides locally specific insights into the level of knowledge about CWD in the Maskwacîs hunting community, how information about the disease is shared, and perceptions of risk about the disease and potential impacts on hunting behavior. The conceptual foundation and research themes section provides a more in-depth description of the issues of Indigenous food security, CWD, access theory, and risk perception as they pertain to this chapter. A description of the research area and of the First Nations of Maskwacîs is provided in the setting section. The methodology section provides an explanation of the survey tool used, data collection, adherence to ethics, and how the COVID-19 pandemic affected our research activities. The results section presents the analyzed survey data relating to animal harvest and consumption, the sharing of wild meat, and knowledge and perceptions about CWD. Following is a discussion of the results and how they reflect the theoretical concepts and research themes introduced earlier in the chapter.

Chapter Four is the second of the two paper chapters, titled "Community-based monitoring: a tool for expanding knowledge on Chronic Wasting Disease". This chapter provides a set of best practices for developing a community-based monitoring program for CWD for Indigenous communities in central Alberta, and provides an explanation of

how these practices were developed through the respectful building of relationships and collaboration between the University of Alberta and Samson Cree Nation. The literature review section provides a description of a social-ecological perspective in resource management, Indigenous rights regarding wildlife harvesting, CWD, and communitybased monitoring based in Indigenous knowledge systems. As this chapter is written in stand-alone paper format, there is a setting section that provides information about Maskwacîs and the research area that is similar to that in Chapter Three. The approach section provides a description of how my supervisor and I built relationships with our research partners in Samson Cree Nation, as well as a description of the Samson Community Freezer Program, with which we worked closely throughout the project. The findings section provides a description of the best practices for creating a communitybased monitoring program for CWD in central Alberta, which were developed through conversations with hunters and leadership, as well as the development of educational materials and community workshops. Lastly, a discussion on the importance of community engagement in the monitoring of wildlife disease, specifically in the Alberta context, is provided, along with the challenges and limitations of these kinds of programs.

Chapter Five, the concluding chapter, provides an overview of the major themes and arguments made in this thesis, and links together the two separate paper chapters. A discussion on the significance of this research is provided, as well as suggestions for further research.

1.2 Theoretical Framework

This thesis is informed by the literature and theory pertaining to knowledge and power, and in particular how knowledge, including Traditional Ecological Knowledge (TEK), influences wildlife resource management in the province of Alberta, as well as the theory of access and how social factors influence who is able to gain benefits from resources, and the perception of risk and how it is shaped by social and cultural factors. The following section explores these three theoretical concepts and explains how this thesis work utilizes them to investigate my research objectives.

1.2.1 Knowledge and Power

Scholars have explored the relativity of truth, and the influence that class, affiliations, and perspectives have on it (De Gré 1941). In the literature on the relativity of knowledge, researchers suggest that knowledge should be understood in relation to those who produce it, their existence, and their social experiences (De Gré 1941; Purcell 1998). Since the 17th century and the epistemological revolution, 'legitimate' knowledge has been identified as that which aligns with the western, and eurocentric, scientific method and standards including objectivity, replicability, verifiability, and the division of the natural world into siloed subject areas (Purcell 1998; Holling et al. 1998; Dudegon & Berkes 2003). This Western concept of knowledge and knowing excludes knowledge that is intuitively known through historical uncontrolled observation, or knowledge that may only be legitimate or true within a specific cultural context (Purcell 1998). Western knowledge, which has awarded itself a foundation based on reason, has utilized colonial

forces to present itself the authority to deem other knowledge as legitimate or illegitimate (Doxtater 2004; Purcell 1998; Reid et al. 2021).

The production of knowledge is exercised to assist individuals or groups in overcoming challenges they face. If said challenge is one group's attempt to control another, then the resulting knowledge would justify domination and tipping the scales of power in favor of its creator (Akena 2012; Sikor and Lund 2009). Following this perspective, we can look at how European colonizers have and continue to legitimize the western scientific way of knowing through its universalization and deem other knowledge systems, such as Indigenous knowledge, illegitimate (Murove 2018; Akena 2012). In order to argue for inclusivity in the representation of knowledge and argue against the ability of colonial knowledge systems to assume a status of universality, we must insist that all knowledge systems are relative and contextual (Murove 2018; Sikor and Lund 2009).

There is a strong argument for this recognition of the cultural context of knowledge and its production in the literature on Indigenous Knowledge. Without the recognition of social context as a determinant of the type of knowledge that is created and shared within a society, the resulting knowledge will be distorted through the lens of the colonizer (Murove 2018). The literature identifies the importance of recognizing knowledge types such as TEK not only as information, knowledge, or a management style, but also as a wider knowledge and belief system that exists within its cultural context (Berkes 1999). Indigenous knowledge is defined several ways in the literature, but most definitions are used to refer to the local knowledge of Indigenous peoples, or the local knowledge of particular groups (Warren et al. 1995). Purcell's (1998) definition describes a body of knowledge that is built through the lived history of a group of people that is an integral part of their adaptation to their local environment. Akena (2012) defines Indigenous knowledge as a "multidimensional body of understandings" (pp. 601). An integral aspect of definitions of Indigenous knowledge is that the knowledge is situated in the knowledge holders' experiences and the environment it is engrained in, with one unable to be separated from the other (Reid et al. 2021). Of course, not all forms and contexts of Indigenous knowledge can be captured by these definitions, and especially definitions that are often developed within the space of academia and by non-Indigenous researchers (Reid et al. 2021). As a white settler in the Treaty 6 area of the province of Alberta, I recognize the problematic aspects of using these definitions developed in other contexts for this work in my using them for the dialogue of this thesis.

TEK can be thought of as a specific focus that exists within Indigenous Knowledge literature. TEK has been defined as "a cumulative body of knowledge, practice and belief, evolving by adaptive processes and handed down through generations by cultural transmission, about the relationship of living beings (including humans) with one another and with their environment" (Berkes 1999: 8). This focus within the realm of Indigenous Knowledge focuses on the relationships within the cultural context, relationships between different aspects of a particular ecosystem, and critically, the pattern of relationships between these two areas; interactions between people, ecosystems, and locally-oriented

ways of knowing (Dudgeon and Berkes 2003). TEK is referred to in the literature as being a holistic knowledge system (Dudgeon and Berkes 2003), with holism being defined as the differentiation and interaction of different parts of a whole system (Bateson 1979).

The holistic perspective within TEK research allows it to focus on the differences between modern science and Indigenous ways of knowing and philosophies, but also the similarities between these Indigenous ways of knowing and some alternative approaches to science. For example, conventional technical scientific approaches to environmental monitoring often include observations of quantifiable things like water levels or animal populations, and Indigenous land users often hold experiential TEK that provides the same, or in some cases more accurate, observations of key indicators (Tremblay et al. 2006; Henri et al. 2018). Agrawal (1995) gives three major themes that separate Indigenous from western knowledge: differences in subject matter, epistemological and methodological differences, and contextual differences. Epistemological and methodological differences include how each knowledge type investigates and interprets their reality using different methods and worldviews. Contextual differences refer to how Indigenous knowledge is more deeply rooted in it historical and cultural context, while western knowledge attempts to separate itself from these contextual backgrounds by being guided by abstract principals (Agrawal 1995).

Critiques of the Indigenous knowledge literature include some researchers shying away from the political context in which this research takes place (Dudgeon & Berkes 2003).

Some Indigenous Knowledge research is done with the goal of preserving Indigenous Knowledge separately from the existing systems and structures of governance, creating opportunities for Indigenous knowledge to be utilized within databases that exist within centralized systems of bureaucracy (Agrawal 1995). This is a product of western institutions seeing Indigenous peoples as having existed in a synonymous way with the environment, and Indigenous knowledge as an important addition to discussion around sustainable resource use strategies (Agrawal 1995). This leads some researchers focus on the potential opportunities for Indigenous knowledge to advance scientific understandings, or interpret Indigenous knowledge in the context of western science and development (Sillitoe 1998). This vein of Indigenous knowledge research often lacks support for Indigenous peoples regarding ownership of knowledge (Dudgeon & Berkes 2003), which is an important aspect of engaging in decolonized research methods (Brant Castellano and Reading 2010).

Governments and governing bodies on a variety of scales have identified the need to value Indigenous knowledge, and have called for their inclusion in governance and resource management around the world. Globally, the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (United Nations 2007) recognizes that respect for Indigenous knowledge contributes to equitable and sustainable development, and states that Indigenous peoples have the right to maintain, control, and protect their traditional knowledge, sciences, technologies, cultures, and intellectual property over such knowledge (Article 31). In Canada, the Truth and Reconciliation Commission Calls to Action (Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada 2015) call for the federal,

provincial, and territorial governments to work with Indigenous peoples and educators to work towards including Indigenous knowledge in primary and secondary education institutions (Article 63).

In my thesis research, instead of looking at Indigenous knowledge with a deficit lens (Spicer et al. 2020), I am acknowledging the validity that Indigenous knowledge, including TEK, experiential knowledge, and non-empirical observations, have for research on environmental issues such as wildlife disease.

1.2.2 Access Theory

The impetus of this thesis project was a problem of access being faced by an Indigenous community located near my home of Edmonton, Alberta. A wildlife disease affecting deer, moose, and elk, species that are culturally as well as nutritionally important in nêhiyawêwin or Cree culture, has been spreading westward toward the four First Nations of Maskwacîs, Alberta for decades (Government of Alberta 2021). A monitoring program lead by the Alberta provincial government is in place, but there are certain barriers that make it difficult for Indigenous hunters to participate in this program. Later chapters in this thesis will contain more information about this disease and the monitoring of it, but in this section I will focus on Access Theory and how it can be used to examine the various social factors that prevent Indigenous communities in Alberta from accessing safe traditional foods in the context of CWD.

Access is defined by Ribot and Peluso (2003) in their seminal work 'A Theory of Access' as "the ability to derive benefits from things" (p. 153). Instead of focusing purely on the

rights to resources, this work focuses on the broader range of social factors that prevent or allow people to benefit from resources. In Access Theory, the two main groups of concern are those who control access to resources, and those who must work to maintain their access to resources through connections with those who hold the control (Ribot and Peluso 2003). Material, cultural, and political-economic factors affect people's abilities to fall into either category. The analysis of access presented by Ribot and Peluso (2003) allows us to unpack why some people or institutions can benefit from resources, regardless of they have the rights to them, and on the other hand, why those who have the rights to resources are not always the ones that are able to benefit from them.

MacPherson (1978) defines 'property' as having the right to use or benefit a resource through the use of 'enforceable claims', or a claim that is acknowledged as legitimate by society through laws or customs. Additional power is held by the institutions that are able to enforce or approve these claims, as this ability reinforces the institutions authority (Sikor and Lund 2009). However, thinking of resources in terms of property only confines the analysis to the context of defined social institutions of the legal and customs variety. By thinking about resource control and benefit in terms of access, we can open up the analysis to include a wider web of social institutions, political, economic, and social relationships (Ribot and Peluso 2003).

Ribot and Peluso (2003) use the term 'mechanisms' to refer to the means, processes, and relations through which access is gained (p. 160). Structural and relational access mechanisms include technology, capital, markets, labour, knowledge, authority,

identities, and social relations (Ribot and Peluso 2003: 162). Of these mechanisms, there are several that specifically apply to the situation of CWD management in Alberta and Indigenous access to traditional foods.

Access to technology

Ribot and Peluso (2003) describe access to technology as having the ability to benefit from resources that cannot be extracted or used without tools or technology. In the case of CWD in Alberta, the only way to ensure that the deer, moose, or elk meat that a hunter harvests is safe to eat is to have it tested for the disease. Currently, only the provincial CWD monitoring program is able to test animal samples for CWD (Government of Alberta, n.d.).

Access to capital

This mechanism is described as access to monetary wealth that can be put towards acquiring the resource in question, or the labor and equipment required to derive benefits from resources (Ribot and Peluso 2003). For Indigenous hunters, time and financial stressors act as barriers to participating in hunting activities (Nelson, Natcher & Hickey 2005), and there are additional time and monetary costs to participating in the provincial CWD monitoring program, especially when submitting samples during non-peak hunting seasons or from a remote community

Access to knowledge

Ribot and Peluso (2003) state that "belief, ideological controls, and discursive practices, as well as negotiated systems of meaning, shape all forms of access" (p. 168). Access to resources is shaped by the power that certain people or groups hold to produce

knowledge that is deemed legitimate by wider society (Moore 2005). Being deemed an expert in a field provides certain individuals with access to resources, as well as the authority to have weight in saying what is 'true' regarding resource management, granting them with the ability to influence what others think and what resource management should look like (Ribot and Peluso 2003). In the case of wildlife disease management in Alberta, the 'western' system of knowledge production utilized by academia holds more legitimacy in institutions of governance than Indigenous knowledge, allowing academic experts to hold influence over resource access and controlling the access of others (Wobeser 2002).

In resource co-management systems, the differentiation between rights and access are not always clear (Ribot and Peluso 2003). A community having the rights to local control of the resource does not always equate to possessing the ability to access the resources needed to fully exercise their rights (Addison et al. 2019). While a management system may be participatory in nature of the management process, the control of rights of access to the resource benefits may still rest with state governments or institutions (Ribot and Peluso 2003; Addison et al. 2019). Resource users may remain in a position where they are attempting to maintain their access to a resource by having to invest in and maintain relationships with the institutions that control resource access (Ribot 1995).

While I am not actively performing access analysis in this study, I found that Ribot and Peluso's (2003) work provided a lens to think about the relationship between the

Government of Alberta and Indigenous hunters in terms of CWD management that was useful.

1.2.3 Risk Perception

Just as access to benefits are unequally distributed and influenced by power, so is exposure to risks (Kojola 2019). The definition of risk utilized for this thesis is a product of people's exposure to a hazard and their social vulnerability, with vulnerability referring to the combination of factors that influence the amount that someone's life or livelihood are affected by a risk or hazard event (Collins 2010: 259; Wisner et al. 2004: 11).

Risk is a social construct, with social and economic interests, as well as cultural values, shaping individual perceptions of environmental risk (Kasperson et al. 1988; Shtob 2019; Mayer et al 2017; Freudenburg 2005; Van Wassenhove et al. 2012; Spicer et al. 2020). A specific risk event, or hazard, will interact with these social, economic, cultural, as well as psychological contexts to influence the public's perceptions about said risk. Personal risk, pre-existing knowledge of the risk, novelty of the risk, and level of trust in decision-makers are also factors that can affect an individual's perception of a risk (Millman et al. 2020). In the case of natural resources, the use of and knowledge about natural resources are shaped by factors such as gender, race, and class, and perceptions of risks affecting said resources vary between groups of people and geographical locations (Kojola 2019; Spicer et al. 2020).

Information about a risk or hazard also affects how people perceive that risk. If an individual hasn't directly experienced the risk before, they will form their perception from

the media or people they know within their community (Kasperson et al. 1988). The previously described socio-demographic variables are important in providing context for people's perceptions about risk and related policies, as not all social groups have the same level of access to information about risks (Mayer et al. 2017; Beck 1992). For example, marginalized communities often face greater risks and 'burdens' when it comes to environmental hazards or issues, but tend to have less access to information or power in the decision-making about these issues that affect them (Kojola 2019: 142).

Scientific experts and other people in positions of power may chastise the public for behaviors associated with risk perception that they deem to be based in ignorance (Slovic 1993), and the subjectivity of risk perception may be dismissed as illegitimate, especially in the field of environmental science that tends to be based on technical methods of data collection (Spicer et al. 2020). These elitist attitudes also affect the participation of marginalized communities in conversations about risk, which may be muted by factors such as racism, colonialism, as well as other social influences such as sexism or classism (Kojola 2019: 132). Additionally, marginalized communities may have an unequal ability to engage with avenues like public forums or technical and legal discourse which are often required to participate in public discourse about management decisions. Even if access to avenues of discourse are provided, if the communication is done in the language of western science, if experts are privileged over the public, and Indigenous sovereignty and rights are not recognized, then the playing field is not equal (Kojola 2019).

Technical and statistical studies of risk have been criticized for not addressing issues of equity in their analysis (Kasperson et al. 1988). The social or psychological factors that are not always represented in technical risk assessments have been shown to affect the public's reactions to risk (Slovic 1993). Additionally, this type of risk communication that sees the public as a group to be educated through one-way communication can be perceived as condescending, and does not engage people in decision-making or assist in building dialogue (Van Wassenhove et al. 2012). While engagement of community stakeholders is encouraged, limited, performative, or superficial community engagement can lead to a lack of trust in institutions such as government (Kojola 2019). When developing risk management processes, the involved stakeholders or wider public, or most of all, those bearing the risks, should be included to make the management plan more inclusive and robust in terms of how to manage the risk at hand (Van Wassenhove et al. 2012; Fabisiak 2020). In the context of the relationship between Indigenous people and government agencies, it is important to recognize the colonial legacy that has shaped interactions between these two groups. Trust is fundamental, but also fragile. In some cases, it may have to be accepted that some relationships between communities and risk managers, governments, or industry may be so tarnished that building trust and resolving conflict cannot be achieved in the short term (Slovic 1993).

Wildlife disease is an environmental issue with a complicated cast of involved actors, including Indigenous hunters, government agencies, recreational hunters, and in the case of CWD, farmers of the affected species. All of these different groups have different social, political, and economic contexts that affect their level of perceived risk about the

disease. In this thesis, the literature on risk perception is used to examine how information on CWD is being communicated to Indigenous communities, and how hunters are interpreting it.

1.3 Literature Review

The following section introduces numerous concepts that are presented and examined throughout this thesis. Additionally, this section positions this research within the existing relevant literature.

1.3.1 Chronic Wasting Disease

Chronic Wasting disease is a fatal and untreatable type of transmissible spongiform encephalopathy (TSE), or prion disease, that affects the Cervidae family that includes deer, elk, moose, and caribou (Williams and Young 1980; Rivera et al. 2019). Throughout this thesis, deer, elk, moose, and caribou may be referred to collectively as cervid species. The first identified case of CWD occurred in a captive mule deer in Colorado in 1967, and the first wild case was discovered in a wild elk in Colorado in 1981 (Rivera et al. 2019), making CWD the first and only known prion disease to occur in wild animals (Zimmer, Boxall & Adamowicz 2011). The first Canadian case of CWD was discovered in a farmed elk in Saskatchewan in 1996 (Kahn et al. 2004), with the first case in Alberta following in 2002 (Government of Alberta, n.d.). The highly transmissible nature of this disease has resulted in CWD being found these two provinces as well as 25 states (CDC 2021), South Korea, and Norway (MyHealth Alberta 2018). The infection of animals with CWD is a slow process, with some cases not showing observable symptoms until years after infection (Chronic Wasting Disease Alliance, n.d.).

A variant of the human-associated TSE called variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (vCJD) can be acquired by eating meat from cattle affected by bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE), commonly known as 'mad cow disease' (National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke 2018). There has been no known transmission of CWD to humans (CFIA 2020a), but due to the uncertain nature of prion diseases, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA 2020) instructs that tissues from an animal that has been affected by CWD should not be consumed.

1.3.2 Indigenous Food Security in Canada

The forces of colonialism, past and present, have affected all aspects of Indigenous livelihood, including nutrition and wellbeing (Settee and Shukla 2020). The United Nation's Committee on World Food Security (2021) defines food security as when people have "physical, social, and economic access to sufficient, safe, and nutritious foods that meet their dietary needs and food preferences" (p. 6). Traditional diets, including wildharvested meat, and the practice of hunting provide important contributions to food security by providing connections to both personal and cultural wellbeing for Indigenous peoples (Furgal, Powell & Myers; Willows 2005). Due to economic and colonial constraints including the cutting of traditional ties and disruption of the passing of knowledge between generations through state-sanctioned residential schools (Pedersen 2016), the transfer of knowledge about traditional foods has been affected, contributing to a lack of food security in many Indigenous communities across Canada (Smylie & Firestone 2016). A national study on nutrition, food security, and food safety in First Nations in Canada found that almost half of the participating households reported being

food insecure, which is a rate three to five times higher than the general Canadian population (FNFNES 2019).

Indigenous communities in Canada engage in subsistence hunting and the consumption of traditional foods despite the barriers linked to social and cultural changes put in motion by the colonial foundations of Canadian society. Most households surveyed in the national study on nutrition and food security in First Nations engaged in food harvesting and production, however, almost half of households reported running out of traditional foods before they were able to replenish their supply (FNFNES 2019). The decline in traditional food supplies can negatively impact all members of Indigenous communities, but low-income households are especially at risk, as they may rely on their local traditional food-sharing networks to meet their basic nutrition needs (Nelson, Natcher & Hickey 2005).

1.3.3 Hunting and Food Sharing in Cree Culture

The practice of hunting in Cree culture is an important means for food collection, but also acts as a connection to the identity, social fabric, and culture of the community. The adherence to cultural principals and protocols is a critical part of the hunting process; principles such as the law of ohcinêwin, which directs against the breaking of a law against non-human life (McAdam 2019), guides the instruction of Cree hunters on teachings that emphasize honoring and respecting the animals that give their lives to sustain the community (Johnson 2017).

Previous to the high degree of time and social limitations placed on Indigenous community members by modern Canadian society, the social fabric of communities was

strong, and relationships were formed and maintained through the acquisition of resources from the land (Natcher 2019). While more stressors are placed on these social networks, their value remains strong; for those that do not hunt, local food-sharing networks are an important way to access traditional foods and strengthen social relationships and connections to culture (Nelson, Natcher, Hickey 2005). In some cases, a small percentage of households in a community act as the food gatherers that provide for the rest of the community, emphasizing value of reciprocity in Cree culture; as Natcher (2015 p. 236) found in research with Indigenous communities in Northern Alberta, "food sharing extends beyond an individual's expectation of reward or recognition, to a higher level of what it is to be Cree".

The ability to maintain close connections to Cree values and culture is being impaired by societal forces that demand Indigenous peoples redefine their culture in order to integrate with western societal norms (Nelson, Natcher & Hickey 2005). Despite these challenges, there are numerous successful Indigenous community food-related programs and projects across Canada that are resisting the colonized reality of Canadian society and are rebuilding relationships with food and cultural practices (Martens 2015; Fida 2021; Nikolopoulos et al. 2020). While these programs do work to promote food security in their communities, they also work towards food sovereignty, defined by global peasant's movement La Via Campesina (2021) as peoples' right to healthy and culturally appropriate foods produced in a sustainable way, and the right to define their own food and agriculture systems. This movement aims to address the issues affecting modern food systems, especially for communities affected by the social, economic, and cultural

damages of colonialism (Kamal et al. 2015). In the case of this thesis project, the importance of traditional foods, including wildlife such as the deer and moose at risk of contracting CWD, to traditional food systems highlights the intersection of animal health and wildlife disease with human health and cultural wellbeing.

1.3.4 Conventional Wildlife Management

Conventional management of wildlife in North America is rooted in scientific areas of study including population ecology and veterinary medicine, as well as the colonizers' ideology of civilizing the landscapes and living things (Sandlos 2001). The imposition of government control over previously locally occupied or managed lands and resources resulted in these areas becoming governed by policies and regulations established by non-local state actors (Spaeder and Feit 2005). The rule of scientific knowledge and subsequently trained experts over these areas, without consideration for the social and cultural contexts of the area, created a rift between Indigenous resource users and state resource managers that is characterized by often strained relationships (Natcher 2000).

The management of wildlife diseases is similarly based in areas of study including epidemiology and population ecology (Wobeser 2002). However as the motivation for its study is based in the interest of benefits to human populations, there exists an opportunity in the world of wildlife disease management to integrate human dimensions research (Decker et al. 2006). Wildlife diseases have real and perceived implications for human health and economies, requiring the understanding of not only disease and animal biology, but the human values and contexts that fuel concerns about diseases in wildlife (Decker 2012; Vaske and Miller 2018).

The basic forms of management strategies include prevention of disease, control of existing disease, or eradication (Wobeser 2002). In the Canadian context of CWD management, eradication was the first management strategy to be attempted by the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA), with a CWD eradication policy being implemented in the fall of the year 2000 (CFIA 2020b). However, the numbers of wild and domestic cases of CWD climbed despite the implementation of the eradication policy, including re-infection in herds that had previously depopulated, followed decontamination procedures, and restocked animals. These events led the federal agency to switch from the eradication policy to a disease control program, after establishing that they were unable to eradicate the disease in areas where it was endemic in wild cervid populations. The CFIA's current CWD control program uses a compartmentalization concept to track the health of individually identified groups of animals and assigning them a distinct health status. The compartmentalization of herds applies to farmed cervids, for which producers are able to participate biosecurity management through herd certification programs (CFIA 2020b). For wild cervids, CWD management currently exists as provincial monitoring programs that rely on hunter participation to submit the heads of harvested cervid species for testing (Government of Alberta n.d.1; Government of Saskatchewan n.d.).

1.3.5 Co-Management and Community-Based Monitoring

The control over natural resources by centralized government structures has generated conflict as well-developed systems of resource management and traditional ecological knowledge were replaced with government-led resource management (Spaeder and Feit 2005). Due to the history and continuation of strained relationships between the Canadian and provincial governments and Indigenous peoples, co-management agreements between Indigenous resource users and government resource managers are relatively new in the realm of land and resource management (Natcher 2000). First Nations in Canada have negotiating with the federal government since the 1970s for co-management agreements that would allow them to increase their participation in decisions regarding their land and natural resources (Houde 2007).

One method of research that offers opportunity for those seeking greater engagement in the monitoring of the environment, or for government or resource management programs seeking to learn from hunters and land users, is community-based monitoring. Community-based monitoring (CBM) is defined in the literature as the monitoring of natural resources by local stakeholders in ways that relate to the aims and objectives that are of concern to them (Danielsen et al. 2014). The process includes a multitude of stakeholders, including the public, government agencies, industry, academia, and community groups coming together to address common problems or concerns (Whitelaw et al. 2003). In partnerships between researchers and Indigenous communities, the braiding together of TEK and western scientific knowledge can be used in CBM programs to widen the scope of resource monitoring through indicators from both knowledge types (Tremblay et al. 2008; Brook et al. 2009).

However, it is important to recognize that Indigenous involvement in CBM programs does not limit them to the role of 'knowledge holder' (Wilson et al. 2018). As with other

types of participatory research methods, when working with Indigenous communities, the benefits of community-based monitoring can only be recognized if the decision-makers in government and academia recognize Indigenous sovereignty (Wilson et al. 2018). To this end, Indigenous organizations are using CBM as a way to express their concerns about inequities in the production of knowledge and how management decisions are made about wildlife and other natural resources (Kutz and Tomaselli 2019)

CHAPTER 2.0: METHODOLOGY

2.1 Introduction

This project was developed in collaboration between the University of Alberta and Samson Cree Nation, out of a resolution for research partnerships on CWD called for by Chiefs at a gathering of the Confederacy of Treaty Six First Nations, Treaty 8 First Nations of Alberta and the Treaty 7 First Nations Chiefs' Association (T7FNCA). Establishing this partnership, which included community members, community organizations, and Council members of Samson Cree Nation, was crucial for ensuring that the project was developed for and met the needs and concerns of community members. Project objectives that were established with community members include the creation and distribution of information about CWD and its implications for Indigenous communities, the addressing of the current barriers to participation in the Government of Alberta's CWD monitoring program, and emphasis of the importance of access to traditional foods.

2.2 Decolonizing Research

Research, in a multitude of disciplines, has a colonial underpinning, with academics from varying fields building careers from the study of Indigenous peoples (Castleden et al. 2012). Research involving Indigenous peoples has a track record of exploitation and misrepresentation of Indigenous knowledge at the hands of non-Indigenous researchers, resulting in research products that Indigenous people feel do not serve their needs (Ball and Janyst 2008; Castleden et al. 2012; Brant Castellano and Reading 2010). As a result, Indigenous communities are demanding for more control in the factors that affect their

wellbeing and livelihoods, including information ownership and having a role in the creation of knowledge and research priorities (Brant Castellano and Reading 2010). The decolonization of research methods means to include Indigenous ways of knowing in academia, and to value them as equal to western, or eurocentric, ways of creating and understanding knowledge (Held 2019). Additionally, the power that researchers hold to produce findings that can be used to legitimate arguments for or against values, policies, and practices, must be shifted to Indigenous communities so they may be true partners in research (Ball and Janyst 2008).

2.3 Community-based Participatory Research

One of the recommended methods for working to decolonize research is communitybased participatory research (CBPR). The goal of this method is to place the research process and the use of the results with the community partners, which is done through mutual learning and knowledge co-creation by acknowledging different ways of knowing and providing equal weight to both scientific knowledge and TEK (Schensul et al. 2008; Fletcher 2003). The engagement of Indigenous community members in all aspects of the research project, from development to dissemination, is an integral part of CBPR, and helps to ensure that the project is designed to address the needs ands concerns of the community (Castleden et al. 2012). This is unlike conventional research, which tends to conduct research on Indigenous peoples instead of with them (Ball and Janyst 2008), with "parachute" researchers that collect data with little to no communication before, during, or after (Castleden et al. 2012 p. 175). There are numerous examples of CBPR being used in resource management and environmental monitoring projects with Indigenous communities (Tomaselli et al. 2018a; Tremblay et al. 2006; Brook et al. 2009; Wilson et

al. 2018). The literature on CBPR interested me greatly, as it appeared to be the most appropriate way to work with my Indigenous research partners and their community as a white settler, first of all, and secondly, to ensure that the project properly addressing the needs of the community.

2.4 Project Scoping

The impetus for this research project was the identification of CWD as an issue of concern by Chiefs at the Confederacy of Treaty Six First Nations, Treaty 8 First Nations of Alberta and the Treaty 7 First Nations Chiefs' Association (T7FNCA), resulting in a resolution for ongoing research collaboration with the University of Alberta about the spread of the disease. In adherence with this resolution, this research investigates 1) the development process for a community-based CWD monitoring program in Maskwacîs, Alberta, and 2) local perceptions of wildlife health and risk perception of CWD. Components of this project are a continuation from previous research done between Dr. Brenda Parlee and research partners with the Treaty 8 First Nations of Alberta that also investigated local perceptions of wildlife health and perceptions of risk of CWD. I was invited to participate in this project as the focus of my thesis research. The funding for this project was provided by Genome Canada and the Alberta Prion Research Institute in a grant to my supervisor, Dr. Brenda Parlee.

My participation in the project began in the project's scoping phase. After the passing of the resolution by Alberta First Nation Chiefs, my supervisor had identified Samson Cree Nation as a potential community partnership after a connection of hers, Robbie Potts, had expressed interest in working on such a type of project. I first met with members of
Samson Cree Nation in 2019, when Dr. Parlee and myself attended a meeting with representatives of the Samson Cree Nation band office and health center in order to discuss the potential for a project focused on CWD management in central Alberta and the implications of the wildlife disease for Indigenous peoples in the area. After the community representatives expressed approval of the project, meetings with representatives with Ermineskin Cree Nation, also located in Maskwacîs, were had. After these two meetings, a research agreement was signed with Samson Cree Nation. At this time, Robbie Potts was hired as my community research partner.

Taking the time to build relationships with your community partners is an important part of CBPR. For the first summer of my field research period, I spent a significant amount of time learning from Robbie about the culture and history of Maskwacîs, as well as the local concerns about CWD and the impact it could have on Cree ways of life. During this first summer, Robbie and myself worked together to develop a CWD information toolkit and brochure for hunters, adapted for use in Treaty 6 from a previous version made by Dr. Brenda Parlee and Kevin Ahkimnachie, who works for Treaty 8 First Nations of Alberta. I attended a band council meeting to introduce myself and to share the toolkit. A video providing information about what CWD is, how to participate in the monitoring program, and demonstrating how to properly prepare an animal head for testing was also produced with Robbie Potts, Kacey Yellowbird, Kevin Ahkimnachie, and Treaty 8 First Nations of Alberta staff Sharlene Alook and Cheryl Moberly. This video production featured our Indigenous research partners, and focused on why monitoring CWD was important to them and to their communities. Robbie and I also began offering to use our

vehicles to pick up cervid heads from community members in Maskwacîs who had a harvested animal they wanted tested for CWD and drive them to the provincial laboratory in Edmonton. Through this process, I became acquainted with Kacey Yellowbird, who runs the Community Freezer Program based out of the Howard Buffalo Memorial Centre.

Near the end of the summer of 2019 was when we began conducting surveys and participating in community workshops. Having the first summer of my thesis research dedicated to building rapport with Robbie and others in the community allowed for me to learn more about Maskwacîs, the hunting community, and some of their concerns, and I am grateful for the time I was able to take to do so.

2.5 Participant Recruitment

For the perceptions of animal health and risk of CWD portion of this project, which involved a survey, participants were identified by recommendation by Robbie Potts, who was familiar with local hunters. Additionally, at community events such as CWD information workshops, I would ask attendees if they were interested in participating in the survey project. Once a participant was identified and expressed interest in participating in the research project, a meeting time was scheduled for them to complete the survey. Surveys were done in person, and Robbie and I would travel to visit participants in their homes, or often meetings would be arranged at the Howard Buffalo Memorial Centre. At the beginning of 2020, safety restrictions put in place due to the COVID-19 pandemic required me to create an online alternative for the survey, and the link was distributed by text message to potential respondents by Robbie. Additionally, Kyra

Northwest, the Traditional Knowledge Lead with the Samson Cree Nation Band Office, would post the link to the survey in The Acimowin, the nation's monthly newsletter, and on the Samson Cree Nation Facebook page.

2.6 Data collection

The research objective of investigating how you might develop a community-based monitoring program for CWD in Maskwacîs, Alberta, was executed through researcher observations, communications with community organizations such as the Samson Cree Nation Community Freezer Program, communication with the Government of Alberta provincial CWD monitoring program, and listening to the experiences and concerns of local Indigenous hunters during survey completion and at community workshops. The process of developing the foundation for a community-based CWD monitoring program with Indigenous communities in the Alberta context is described in full detail in Chapter Four.

2.6.1 Surveys

The second research objective of investigating local perceptions of wildlife health and risk perception of CWD was carried out through a survey adapted from previous work by Dr. Brenda Parlee with Indigenous communities in northern Alberta (Parlee et al. 2021). A copy of the survey can be found in Appendix C. During data collection in 2019 and the first months of 2020, surveys were completed in person, which allowed for participants to ask questions about the survey and provide extra details about their answers to the multiple choice survey questions. I would ask the participant if they preferred to fill out the survey themself, or if they preferred to have me read the survey to them and fill in

their answers while they verbally answered. In the case where participants filled out the survey independently, I instructed them that any extra information could be written down in the blank boxes below the survey questions. If I was filling out the survey for the participant, I wrote all extra information down on the survey sheet.

2.7 Research Agreement

A research agreement was signed in 2019 between my research group from the University of Alberta and Samson Cree Nation. Due to the nature of information collected during this research, which included discussions about TEK and spirituality surrounding cultural practices such as hunting, the creation of a research agreement was an important step in empowering Samson Cree Nation in the research process, and building trust between researchers and community partners.

2.8 Consent Forms

A critical step in conducting ethical research is obtaining informed consent before data collection activities begin. Survey participants were given a plain language summary, which can be found in Appendix B, that described the objectives of the research project, how their answers would be used, and contact information for if they had any questions. After reading the plain language summary, participants were given a consent form. I would verbally go over the consent form as the participant read the document, reiterating that they had no obligation to participate in the study and could stop at any time. The consent forms had a place for participants to indicate whether they wanted their name to appear in research products such as future publications, or if they would prefer to be anonymous. All research participants gave written consent for their survey answers to be

used in this project. Due to the quantitative nature of the survey portion of the project, no names are used when referring to survey answers in Chapter Three. Consent forms can be found in Appendix B.

2.9 Compensation

Providing a gift in the form of honoraria is a culturally appropriate way to develop a relationship of respect with Elders and knowledge holders in Cree culture (Council on Aboriginal Initiatives, 2012). Before in-person surveys, participants were given a box of tobacco. For completing the survey, participants were given a \$50 gift card, either to a gas station or to the hunting store Cabela's, to thank them for their participation. For Elders who completed the survey, a blanket was also gifted in addition to the giftcard in order to show an additional sign of respect for the depth of their knowledge. These honoraria choices were made with input from the Samson Cree Nation band office, which has guidelines for the amount of honoraria to pay community members for research activities. When the transition to online surveys was made during COVID-19, online giftcards were purchased from the Cabela's website, and delivered via email to survey participants. Honoraria purchases were made with the help of Tracy Howlett, Dr. Brenda Parlee's research coordinator, who used the appropriate credit card to make purchases and claim expenses. For the purchase of online giftcards, all receipts were forwarded to Tracy Howlett.

2.10 Analysis

2.10.1 Database Creation

I developed a codebook for the survey that assigned numerical values to the answer sets for the multiple-choice questions. This codebook was used to take the answers from the 31 completed surveys and translate them into a data spreadsheet I created in Microsoft Excel. Once the answers were all translated into numerical format in the spreadsheet, I was able to use a statistical program to perform my data analysis. I used the RStudio interface for R for my analysis, which is a free and open-source statistical computing program. Due to the work-from-home orders put in place by the University of Alberta due to COVID-19, I was not able to access other statistical programs such as SPSS that are available on campus. I have some experience working with R for data analysis, and the fact that it was free to download and use made it a suitable option for me.

Due to the relatively small number of respondents that participated in the survey, I was not able to perform complicated analysis on the data. I used descriptive statistics and cross-tabulations to gain insight into key trends and relationships in the data. Due to the fact that I was not able to perform an analysis that provided a numerical confirmation of statistical significance, along with the cultural and geographic context of this study, the findings of this research cannot be applied Indigenous communities as a whole, and remain specific to Maskwacîs, Alberta.

2.10.2 Verification with Community Partners

The verification of data with community members is an important step in communitybased participatory research, as it allows those involved with the research to provide their own interpretation of the data (Fletcher, 2003). Hosting a community workshop to discuss the results of the survey and the educational materials produced (CWD toolkit, brochures, and the informative video) would have been my preferred method of verification, but due to COVID-19, visiting the community was not permitted due to safety restrictions put in place by Samson Cree Nation and the University of Alberta. Instead, a data report with a summary of key findings and relationships of interest that were identified by my community research partner was created and shared with community partners. For the work surrounding the development of a community-based CWD monitoring program in Maskwacîs, Chapter Four was provided to both Robbie Potts and Kacey Yellowbird for revisions as part of the writing process.

2.11 Data Storage

During the period where surveys were completed in-person, physical copies of the completed survey and consent forms were stored in a secure cabinet in my office at the University of Alberta campus. However, when work-from-home orders were put in place due to COVID-19, I took all secure documents, including the completed surveys and consent forms, home with me to ensure their safety. Once I am able to return to campus, these documents will be stored in a locked filing cabinet in Dr. Parlee's office, where they will be stored for five years in accordance with this project's ethics approval. After the five-year period, the surveys will be destroyed.

The electronic Excel file that stores the survey response data has no personal information associated with it, as each survey was given a numerical code that is used as an identifier in the Excel file. This file is stored on my password-protected personal computer.

2.12 Benefits for Participations

Community members who participated in this research project benefited through the gifting of an honoraria payment for sharing their time and knowledge. Other benefits include having the opportunity to share their concerns or feelings about issues of hunting accessibility, their perception of risk about CWD in the Maskwacîs area, and observations of general wildlife health. Participants were also able to benefit through establishing connections to Robbie Potts, Kacey Yellowbird, and myself, who would collect, tag, and deliver deer, moose, or elk heads for testing at the provincial facility in Edmonton. The ability to have harvested animals tested for CWD can be seen as a benefit as not all community members have the time or means to acquire the appropriate CWD sample tags and make the hour-long drive to Edmonton to have the animals tested themselves.

2.13 Limitations

A survey was chosen as a method for data collection in investigating the local perceptions of wildlife health and risk perception of CWD so that a long-term dataset could be developed to compare responses over time. However, surveys do provide a limitation in that they do not allow for the same kind of rich, in-depth reflections that qualitative research methods, such as interviews, often provide. Additionally, the use of Dr. Brenda

Parlee's previously created survey was used so that future comparisons between Indigenous communities from Treaty 8 Territory and those surveyed in Treaty 6 Territory could be made. However, this limited the survey in how specific the questions were about the Maskwacîs area, resulting in the questions being more general in nature about hunting, wildlife health, and CWD. Lastly, the small sample size did not allow for analysis that was statistically significant, so the findings cannot be applied to other Indigenous communities.

2.14 Author Positionality

I am a non-Indigenous settler born and raised in Amiskwacîwâskahikan, or so-called Edmonton, Alberta. I grew up in the city, and much of my knowledge about the environment that I live in was gained in educational settings, or while recreating in different places around Alberta. I became interested in this research project because of my background in animal science, and throughout my undergraduate degree I became very interested in the intersectionality of race and class in the management of environmental issues.

My background is much different than many of the people I came to know during my fieldwork in Maskwacîs. The time that I was provided to build a relationship with my community research partner and meet with other community members allowed me to address my own positionality in the work that I am doing. At times, I still struggle with deciding if it is appropriate that I, a white woman from the city, am the one doing this work and receiving a degree for it. However, through conversations with my research partners, I began to acknowledge that it is also important in the spirit of reconciliation to

actively build these relationships so that we can learn from each other, and use each other's strengths to address challenges together. It is important to me that the outcomes of this thesis research are able to continue to be built on by the Nations of Maskwacîs after my degree is completed, and that this work is able to continue on without being tied to me. CHAPTER 3.0: Local perspectives on wildlife health and Chronic Wasting Disease in Maskwacîs, Alberta

3.1 Introduction

Infectious disease outbreaks are occurring more often than ever before, with the health of humans, domestic animals, and wildlife linked through shared diseases (Decker et al. 2012; One Health Initiative, n.d.). The staggering effects that the COVID-19 pandemic has had on societies around the globe is a sobering example of how the link between animal and human health can impact livelihoods, food chains, as well as local and international economies (Foddai et al. 2020). A disease that is of growing concern in North America's free-ranging wildlife populations is Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD), a type of fatal prion disease of species in the Cervidae family that has affected mule deer (Odocoileus hemionus), white-tailed deer (Odocoileus virginianus), elk (Cervus *canadensis*), and moose (*Alces alces*) in two Canadian provinces and 25 states (Williams and Young 1980; Rivera et al. 2019; CDC 2021). Social research on the affects of CWD have largely focused on the perceptions of recreational hunters and wildlife managers (Schuler et al. 2016; Haus et al. 2017; Heberlein & Stedman 2009; Vaske & Miller 2018; Needham & Vaske 2008; Muringai & Goddard 2018; Vaske et al. 2004; Zimmer, Boxall & Adamowicz 2011), with little specific representation of Indigenous peoples who rely on the affected species as a source of traditional food (Parlee et al. 2021; Amick, Clark & Brook 2015). To address this gap, this research project was developed between the University of Alberta and Samson Cree Nation in Maskwacîs, Alberta, which is located on the western edge of CWD's range in the province (Government of Alberta 2021). A survey was conducted with 31 Indigenous hunters from the region where they offered

their observations about local deer, moose, and elk health and populations, as well as the role that wild meat plays in local diets. Specifically in relation to CWD, we investigated the level of knowledge about the disease in the hunting community, how information was being shared, as well as perceptions of risk about the disease and potential impacts on hunting behavior.

3.2 Conceptual Foundation and Research Themes

3.2.1 Indigenous Food Security

Food is an important part of personal identity, and traditional foods can act as stabilizing connections to cultural and personal wellbeing (Furgal, Powell & Myers 2005; Willows 2005). For many Indigenous communities, the acts of hunting and the sharing of traditional foods are important for strengthening social relationships as well as connections to culture (Nelson, Natcher & Hickey 2005; Natcher 2019). In central Alberta, in nêhiyawêwin or Cree culture, animals of nutritional and spiritual importance include moose, deer, and elk (Nikolopoulos et al. 2020; Willows 2005). In Canada, Indigenous Treaty Rights allow for the use and occupation of lands and resources in order to fulfill traditional hunting and fishing rights (Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern Affairs Canada 2020). In Alberta, generally, eligible Indigenous peoples may hunt for food without licenses at any time of year on unoccupied Crown lands and other areas where they have hunting access (Government of Alberta 2016). Areas that are not permissible for hunting include spaces being actively used for industrial purposes, fenced or cultivated lands, lands containing occupied buildings, or lands where livestock or domestic animals may be present (Government of Alberta 2016).

Subsistence hunting and traditional food consumption remain strong practices in many Indigenous communities in Alberta and across Canada (Natcher et al. 2021; Natcher 2019; Christie et al. 2018; Peloquin and Berkes 2009). Threats to this practice include social and cultural changes that have taken place, including the bureaucratic nature of contemporary society that places demands on peoples' time, as well as the interruption of inter-generational knowledge sharing caused by colonial practices such as the separation of families and removal of Indigenous peoples from their traditional territories (Nelson, Natcher & Hickey 2005; Pedersen 2016). Additionally, the decision to purchase storebought foods that may not be as nutritionally dense as traditional foods is also influenced by similar economic, social, and environmental factors (Willows 2005). These issues of accessing traditional foods for Indigenous peoples can lead to food insecurity, referring to the limited or inadequate access to sufficient, safe, nutritious, personally acceptable foods to meet an individual or household's dietary requirements (Tarasuk 2001: 2).

A decline in the amounts of traditional foods available can negatively impact many members of a community, but especially low-income households, who may rely on their local food-sharing networks to meet their basic needs (Nelson, Natcher & Hickey 2005). To combat this, food-sharing networks such as community-freezer programs are used in some Indigenous communities to provide those facing food insecurity on reserve or in remote areas with access to traditional foods (Fida 2021; Willows 2005). These community-based projects and networks that engage local hunters and community members with traditional hunting practices and food sharing are a step towards food

sovereignty and the right to healthy and culturally appropriate food produced in local food systems, which can be important in the journey towards attaining food security (Nikolopoulos et al. 2020).

3.2.2 Chronic Wasting Disease

Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) is an untreatable prion disease, or transmissible spongiform encephalopathy (TSE), of the Cervidae family, which includes deer, elk, moose, and caribou (Williams and Young 1980; Rivera et al. 2019). CWD is the only known prion disease to be detected in wild animals (Zimmer, Boxall & Adamowicz 2011). The infection process of CWD is slow, with some animals not showing observable symptoms of the disease for several years after infection (Chronic Wasting Disease Alliance, n.d.). In the late stages of the disease, animals may become emaciated, uncoordinated, salivate and urinate excessively, and display unusual behaviors (CFIA 2020b). Unlike other TSEs that have the ability to cause similar diseases in humans, such as bovine spongiform encephalopathy, there has been no known transmission of CWD to humans (CFIA 2020a). However, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (2020a) instructs that meat from an animal that has tested positive for CWD should not be consumed.

CWD was first identified in a captive mule deer in Colorado in 1967, and the first wild case was discovered in elk in Colorado in 1981 (Rivera et al. 2019). The first Canadian case of the disease was discovered in a farmed elk in Saskatchewan in 1996 (Kahn et al. 2004). The first case in Alberta was identified in 2002 in farmed elk, with an additional case in farmed white-tailed deer found later that year (Government of Alberta, n.d.2) In 2005, the first Albertan case of CWD in a wild deer was discovered (Government of

Alberta, n.d.3). In species such as wild cervids, which range over huge territories, management becomes difficult (Leiss et al. 2017). The Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) began an eradication program in the year 2000, but after cases of CWD in wild and farmed cervids increased despite CFIA program efforts, it was concluded that eradication measures were unsustainable and that efforts should be focused on controlling the disease (CFIA 2020b).

Since the early 2000s, CWD management in Alberta has varied in its approach, at different times using combinations of herd reduction programs as well as hunter and landowner involvement in surveillance, including the mandatory submission of deer heads in Wildlife Management Units (WMUs) of concern (Government of Alberta, n.d.2). Since the discovery of CWD Alberta's wild deer population in 2005, the prevalence of the disease has increased annually (Government of Alberta, n.d.2). Currently, the surveillance program monitors the prevalence of CWD in the free-ranging elk, mule deer, and white-tailed deer populations within the province by collecting animal heads for testing through hunter submissions and coordinating with monitoring programs for farmed cervid species (Government of Alberta, n.d.3).

3.2.3. Access Theory

For individuals and communities that engage in subsistence hunting to fulfill their physical and cultural needs, access to resources like land and wildlife becomes an issue of public health. Ribot and Peluso (2003) define access as "the ability to derive benefits from things" (p. 153), and emphasize the difference between the rights to resources and the ability to access them, highlighting the broad range of social, cultural, and political-

economic factors that can allow or restrict people from benefitting. The threat that CWD places on cervid populations in Alberta is not the only factor that is preventing Indigenous peoples from accessing safe traditional foods; the positions they hold in social relationships with other groups, political and economic circumstances all affect the terms of access to resources such as land and wildlife populations (Ribot and Peluso 2003; Sikor and Lund 2009).

The United Nations' Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (United Nations 2007), of which Canada is a signatory, acknowledges the territorial rights and interests of Indigenous peoples to be 'secure in the enjoyment of their own means of subsistence and development, and to engage freely in all their traditional and other economic activities' (Article 20.1). Additionally, in Canada, Indigenous Treaty Rights allow for the use and occupation of lands and resources, including hunting and fishing rights (Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern affairs Canada 2020). While these formal rights to resources such as land for hunting and local species of wildlife exist, this does not necessarily mean that the rights-holders, the Indigenous hunters, are able to collect all the benefits from the resources that the rights apply to (Sikor and Lund 2009; Cousins 1997). Indigenous communities face distinct environmental justice issues rooted in colonialism, with indigeneity being an important dynamic in struggles over land and resources (Kojola 2019).

Ribot and Peluso (2003) describe several structural and relational mechanisms of access that can affect how individuals or groups are able or unable to access the benefits of

certain resources, and there are several that specifically apply to the issue of CWD management in Alberta, including i) access to knowledge, ii) access to technology, and iii) access to capital (Table 3-1).

Mechanism of Access	What grants you access?	Sources
Access to knowledge	The power that specific individuals or groups hold to produce knowledge	Ribot and Peluso 2003
	'Expert' status and the authority to deem what is 'true' regarding resource management	
	Western knowledge systems used in academia hold more legitimacy in government institutions than Indigenous knowledge	
Access to technology	Many resources cannot be extracted or used without tools or technology, such as access to testing facilities or equipment to help ensure food safety	Ribot and Peluso 2003
Access to capital	Access to monetary wealth that can be put towards resource acquisition, or the labour and equipment required to derive benefits from resources	Ribot and Peluso 2003 Natcher 2019

Table 3-1: Mechanisms of access in relation to CWD management in Alberta

3.2.4 Risk Perception

When a part of a food system becomes deemed unsafe for human consumption in some way, whether from environmental contaminants or wildlife disease, often recommendations are put in place to limit or halt consumption (Willows 2005). In the case of CWD, it is recommended by health authorities provincially, nationally, and globally, that humans not consume tissue from CWD-affected animals (CFIA 2020a; Government of Alberta n.d.4). While the impact that this disease could have on human health is uncertain (Government of Alberta n.d.4), the historical and current dependence that Indigenous people have on the affected cervid species could result in risk to their lifestyle and culture (Leiss et al. 2017).

Numerous factors can impact how individuals interpret and perceive a risk in their community. How the risk is communicated to community members and the cultural context in which the risk is deciphered can impact how individuals respond to advisories (Willows 2005; Furgal, Powell & Myers 2005). For example, when CWD was discovered in Wisconsin, hunting license sales had a record decline (Vaske et al. 2004), which social researchers suggest could be attributed to the uncertainty in the messaging around the human health impacts of the disease (Vaske and Miller 2018; Needham and Vaske 2008; Heberlein and Stedman 2009), as well as the media's constant coverage of CWD (Heberlein and Stedman 2009). Other factors that may influence the perception or reception of a risk include the level of trust in the authority or decision-maker dealing with the issue, the perception of seriousness of the risk, and the perception of control over the risk (Furgal, Powell & Myers 2005; Vaske and Miller 2018; Needham and Vaske 2008). Trust is a particularly important aspect of the relationship between environmental management departments and Indigenous communities, due to the long history of toxic relationships between Indigenous peoples and government agencies (Furgal, Garvin, & Jardine 2010).

Strategies for communicating risks with the public or affected groups vary, but in the case of communicating about the risks of contaminated foods with Indigenous peoples, Furgal, Powell & Myer (2005) argue that little 'true communication' (p. 111) has likely taken place between researchers and Indigenous peoples, with the tendency being to resort to one-way dissemination of scientific information. To break from this patronizing practice, authors like Powell and Leiss (1997) suggest that risk managers should engage in two-way communication. This model identifies the importance of both the scientific understanding as well as the public or community perception of risks; the scientific understanding aims to assess and quantify the risk, explain uncertainties, and identify gaps in understanding, while the public or community's perception informs the context of the issue, identifies specific concerns that should be addressed, and identify conditions that will help the community build capacity to understand and participate in the management of the risk (Powell and Leiss 1997). The process of developing a risk management plan should be dynamic between these two groups, as both are important parts of the risk communication process (Powell and Leiss 1997).

3.3 Setting

Four First Nations are located within the Maskwacîs reserve in central Alberta: Samson Cree Nation, Louis Bull First Nation, Ermineskin Cree Nation, and Montana First Nation. Maskwacîs is surrounded by urban centers, including the cities of Edmonton, Red Deer, and Wetaskiwin. Samson Cree Nation, who we share a research agreement with for this project, is the largest of the four bands with a population of 3,825 (Statistics Canada 2016). The area in which Maskwacîs is located has a significant industrial presence, with agriculture and oil and gas exploration and development being large contributors to the economic base of the area (Count of Wetaskiwin, n.d.)

The traditional territory of the Nêhiyaw-Askiy, or Plains Cree, is located within a parkland ecosystem that is populated by a variety of cervid species including white-tailed and mule deer, moose, and elk (Alberta Wilderness Association, n.d.). Alberta's cervid species hold importance not only for traditional diets and nutrition, but also culturally for the Cree people (Natcher et al. 2021; Natcher 2019). Maskwacîs is located on the border between two WMUs that represent the eastern range of CWD in Alberta, with WMU 226 being a location of a positive CWD test (Figure 3-1). The location of Maskwacîs and the importance of these cervid species to traditional diets and Cree culture makes the spread of CWD into central Alberta a concerning issue.



Figure 3-1: Map of current Alberta WMUs with CWD present (Government of Alberta 2020a)

3.4 Methods

Methods for quantitative data collection and analysis, such as survey use, tend to be used in Western science and can be used in an extractive manner. Quantitative research and data collection, whether it is in the form of census data or other statistical reporting, often reflects the dominant cultural context in which they are used, which lack in their efforts to act in the interests of Indigenous peoples (Walter and Andersen 2013). However, there are growing examples of these methods being used in research that is led by or done in cooperation with Indigenous peoples (Parlee et al. 2021; Steel et al. 2021; Spoon 2014). Quantitative data is powerful, and the ability to have ownership of data can serve as an act of Indigenous sovereignty over the knowledge that is so often used by settlers to describe and manage them (Parlee et al. 2021; Morphy 2016)

In an effort to contribute to the decolonization of research, the tenants of participatory action research (PAR) and community-based participatory research (CBPR) guide this project. PAR involves community members as community researchers and academics collaborating in research that supports community growth, solidarity, and social action (Schensul et al. 2008). Similarly, CBPR is a set of ethical guidelines that requires community members be involved in all stages of the research process, and works towards outcomes of social change (Wilson et al. 2018). In the realm of wildlife health research and management, these participatory approaches to research can be used to assert Indigenous soveignty over resources (Wilson et al. 2018), such as the rights to traditional food and hunting practices, and allow traditional knowledge and indicators to claim space in the realms of research and wildlife management (Reid et al. 2021; Tomaselli et al. 2018b).

A survey titled "Tracking Change: Traditional Knowledge of Wildlife Health in Alberta", was developed to collect information on hunters' and land users' perceptions of wildlife health in the Maskwacîs area, how animal health may have changed over time, how access to hunting areas may have changed over time, and the amount of information and

levels of concern that participants have regarding Chronic Wasting Disease. The research project was developed in response to concerns about CWD expressed by Chiefs of the Confederacy of Treaty 6 First Nations, Treaty 8 First Nations, and the Treaty 7 First Nation Chiefs Association during meetings in which the University of Alberta was involved. The survey was developed with the intention that it be redistributed to hunters and land users on a recurring basis to provide long-term tracking of observed wildlife health in the Maskwacîs area, and was developed in adherence with the Tri-Council of Canada ethical research procedures as well as the research agreement with Samson Cree Nation. This survey was adapted for use in the Maskwacîs and central Alberta area from a previous iteration that was developed by Parlee et al. (2021) for work done between the University of Alberta and Treaty 8 First Nations for use in northern Alberta beginning in 2008.

The data discussed in this paper was collected from 2019 to 2021. In 2019, the project's community research partner (second author) from Samson Cree Nation would identify potential participants, and then a meeting would be arranged with hunters and land users who expressed interest in the project to conduct the survey in person with the principal investigator (lead author) and the Community Research partner. Snowball sampling was also used, as participants were encouraged to tell others who they hunted with about the opportunity to participate in the survey project. All survey respondents self-identified as Indigenous. Surveys were also completed at CWD community demonstration workshops hosted by the Samson Community Freezer Program. Before completing the survey, participants were required to read an informative summary of the project and outline of

the survey objectives, and sign a consent form. The University of Alberta's Research Ethics Office reviewed the survey package, including the information sheet, consent form, and questionnaire, was reviewed for its adherence to ethical research guidelines.

In March of 2020, due to the COVID-19 pandemic and safety precautions put in place by both Samson Cree Nation and the University of Alberta, the survey was transitioned to an online format and was conducted through Google Forms to allow hunters and landusers to participate remotely. The community research partner distributed links to the survey by text message, and a link was posted in the Samson Cree Nation monthly band newsletter.

3.5 Results

During the data collection period, 31 surveys were completed. In 2019 and the first three months of 2020, 9 respondents completed the survey in-person with the research team. The remaining 22 respondents that participated in 2020 and 2021 completed the survey online due to the restrictions on in-person research that were put in place due to the global COVID-19 pandemic. Due to the small sample size, variable response rate for different sections of the survey, and the situated nature of the observations expressed in the data, the results of this paper cannot be generalized to the wider Cree hunter experience.

3.5.1 Harvest, Consumption, Meat Sharing

When asked how long they had hunted in the study area, 35% of respondents answered that they had hunted in the Maskwacîs area for the past 10 years, and another 25% answered that they had been hunting in the area for their whole life (or more than 25

years). At 23%, a similar amount of respondents answered that they were new hunters to the area, and had only been hunting there for the past few years.

The survey questions regarding hunting asked participants to recall information about their hunting activities over the past six months (Table 3-2). The majority (80%) of respondents had gone hunting for both moose and deer at least once in the last six months, while 58% of respondents had gone hunting for elk at least once in the same period. Most respondents had gone on between one and four hunting trips in the past sixmonth period, whether it was for moose, deer, or elk. Figure 3-3 illustrates the number of animals harvested per species, and highlights which deer species is most often harvested; when hunting for deer, respondents reported harvesting fewer mule deer than white-tailed deer. The data from this survey suggests that moose and white-tailed deer are the most frequently consumed cervid species by community members in Maskwacîs. The low response rates for questions related to elk are attributed to the lower number of respondents who participated in elk hunting during the six-month recall period.

The survey included a space for respondents to reflect on whether their hunting areas had changed over time. Out of the total amount of respondents (n=31), 61% answered 'yes' when asked if the areas that they hunt in have changed over time. For those who provided expanded answers on how their hunting areas have changed over time, all answers referred to how the accessibility of the areas has changed. Figure 3-2 illustrates four themes that emerged from these qualitative answers. Of the 10 respondents that provided detailed accounts of these changes, 6 noted that increases in private property, farmland,

or industry activity prevented them from accessing hunting areas that they had used in the

past.

No hunting signs on people's properties (Survey respondent)

[I hunt] in pastures out west, some of which are no longer accessible because they have been leased out, and 'no hunting' signs have gone up (Survey respondent)

Some areas [I] used to hunt in aren't accessible anymore, [I think] due to population growth, industry and private land causing issues (Survey respondent)

Construction activity, oilfield development, land clearing has changed the areas (Survey respondent)

Farmers have removed a lot of the forest around my area I use to hunt as a child (Survey respondent)

Industry such as oil and gas, logging companies has moved in the area... chased wild game out of [my] hunting area. Too much activity to hunt (Survey respondent)

One respondent noted that they no longer hunt in areas where CWD is present, which

applies to WMUs to the south and east of Maskwacîs.



Figure 3-2: Qualitative responses to how the hunting areas of respondents have changed over time

Table 5 2: Number of numbing trips per animal in the past o months						
	None	1-4 trips	5-7 trips	> 7 trips	Response	
Moose	19%	45%	19%	3%	97%	
Deer	19%	42%	19%	16%	97%	
Elk	42%	42%	13%	0%	97%	

Table 3-2: Number of hunting trips per animal in the past 6 months



Figure 3-3: Number of animals harvested in the last 6 months, per species. Response rate: moose (81%), WTD + MD (77%), elk (52%)

The survey contained several questions about the significance of wild meat to the diets of people in Maskwacîs. Figure 3-4 illustrates the frequency at which respondents typically consume wild meat during the week. 90% of respondents reported consuming wild meat at varying frequencies, with only 10% stating that they do not eat wild meat. An additional variable that speaks to the significance of wild meat in the diets of local Indigenous communities is the sharing of meat with family and community members (Table 3-3). A large percentage of respondents (94%) shared meat outside of their households, along with sharing meat with family outside of their community (83%).



Figure 3-4: Weekly rate of wild meat consumption (percentage). Response rate: 100%

	All	Most	Some	None	Response rate
How much meat shared outside household?	10%	32%	52%	6%	100%
	Always	Usually	Sometimes	Never	Response rate
Do you give meat to family living outside your community?	17%	23%	43%	17%	97%

 Table 3-3: Reports of wild meat sharing with family and community (percent)

3.5.2 Knowledge and Perceptions about CWD

Respondents were asked about whether they had received information about CWD and if so, from which sources. The majority of respondents stated that they had received information about CWD, with 29% having received 'a lot' of information about the disease (Figure 3-5). While it was a small proportion of the sample, 10% of respondents stated that they had received no information about CWD.

The sources of this information are illustrated in Figure 3-6. The top three reported sources of information on CWD are others in the community, community meetings, and community posters. Due to the nature of this survey in that it was adapted for use in the Treaty 6 area from Parlee et al.'s (2021) survey from 2008, social media was not included as an option. However, from communication with respondents during in-person surveys, we can gather that information pertained through social media would fall into the 'others in the community' category.



Figure 3-5: Amount of information on CWD received by survey respondents



Figure 3-6: Sources for information on CWD

Given the importance of cervid species to the diets of Indigenous peoples in central Alberta, information was collected about hunters' level of concern about moose, deer, and elk, as well as about CWD in general. For moose and deer populations, 64% and 48% of respondents, respectively, expressed some amount of concern for the populations of these animals, ranging from somewhat concerned to very concerned (Table 3-4). The data reflects a higher level of concern for moose as a species than deer or elk. The response rate for survey questions about the level of concern for moose and deer populations was 68%. When asked about elk, 38% of respondents expressed some amount of concern about the health of the population, ranging from somewhat concerned to very concerned. This lower percentage could be partly attributed to a lower response rate (48%) for the question about elk, likely due to the smaller number of respondents who had hunted elk within the time frame of the survey.

Respondents were asked several questions about their perceptions of the risks associated with CWD. The majority of respondents (74%) felt some level of concern about CWD, with only 3% expressing that they were not concerned about this wildlife disease (Figure 3-7). When level of concern for CWD is compared to the variable for level of hunting experience, we can see that out of the respondents that hunt in the Maskwacîs area, the group who had more than 25 years of hunting experience had the most respondents report that they were 'very concerned' about CWD (Figure 3-8). The majority of hunters within the other groupings of hunting experience reported feeling 'somewhat concerned' about CWD. The non-hunting group of respondents, which during survey completion identified themselves as users of the land for other purposes, or family members of hunters, all reported that they felt 'very concerned' about CWD.

	Not concerned	Somewhat concerned	Very concerned	Response Rate
Moose	3%	48%	16%	68%
Deer	19%	42%	6%	68%
Elk	10%	32%	6%	48%

Table 3-4: Level of concern about CWD per animal species



Figure 3-7: Level of concern about CWD



Figure 3-8: Level of CWD concern by hunting experience



Figure 3-9: Level of CWD concern by mule deer hunting frequency



Figure 3-10: Level of CWD concern by white-tailed deer hunting frequency

	No	Yes		Don't know	Response Rate
Does your level of concern about CWD affect whether you choose to go out hunting or not?	32%	26%		13%	71%
	None	Some	A lot	Don't know	Response Rate
How much does your level of concern about CWD affect where you choose to hunt?	6%	39%	19%	6%	71%

Table 3-5: CWD concern and hunting choices

Table 3-6: Opinions on current and past CWD management

	Yes	No	Maybe	Don't know	Response Rate
Do you agree with the culling of deer populations to limit the spread of disease?	26%	13%	23%	16%	77%
	Yes	No	Maybe	Don't know	Response Rate
Would you be willing to participate in monitoring by submitting tissue samples of harvested deer or moose?	45%	10%	16%	10%	81%

Only 26% of respondents said that their level of concern about CWD affected whether they chose to go hunting or not (Table 3-5). However, 58% of respondents said that their level of concern about CWD had some affect on where they choose to hunt. In addition, survey respondents were asked about both CWD management practices that have been and are currently implemented in Alberta. Almost half of respondents answered that they would be willing to participate in submitting tissue samples or heads of harvested deer, elk, or moose in order to assist with the monitoring of CWD (Table 3-6). When asked whether they agreed with the culling of deer populations to manage the spread of CWD, 39% of respondents said that they were unsure, while 26% said they agreed with the culling of deer (Table 3-6).

3.6 Discussion

This project was developed as a continuation of the work by Parlee et al. (2021) with Indigenous hunters in northern Alberta to document the importance of cervid species to their diet and cultures, as well as how risks of CWD are being communicated to and interpreted by communities. The research presented in this paper expands this work into central Alberta and the territory of Treaty 6 First Nations, where CWD is present and has an annually expanding range (Government of Alberta 2021b). This paper seeks to fill the gap in the literature on wildlife management and CWD where there is a limited representation of Indigenous peoples from central Alberta and their relationship to this issue.

3.6.1 Harvest Levels, Food Consumption, and Importance of Cervid Species to Local Diets and Culture

The survey data highlights the importance of cervid species to Indigenous communities in central Alberta that engage in subsistence hunting. The frequency of consumption of wild meat (Figure 3-4), as well as the large proportion of respondents that reported sharing harvested meat outside of their households (Table 3-3), speaks to the importance of wild meat in not only the diets of hunters and their families, but also others in the community who are a part of the food-sharing network. These findings are consistent with other

research on traditional foods and livelihoods done with Indigenous communities in Alberta (Natcher 2019; Natcher et al. 2021; Parlee et al. 2021).

Research based in northern Alberta speaks to the relationship that CWD-affected cervid species, especially moose, have to the livelihood of Indigenous communities that participate in subsistence hunting (Natcher 2019; Parlee et al. 2021). In the Maskwacîs area, moose and deer were equally represented as the animal being sought after by respondents, with 81% of respondents reporting going on some number of hunting trips for both animals, with 'deer' representing both white-tailed and mule deer (Table 3-2). Only 55% of respondents reported going on hunting trips for elk (Table 3-2). White-tailed deer and mule deer were differentiated in questions relating to animal harvest. While there were more respondents that reported harvesting white-tailed deer in varying amounts, moose was the most frequently represented animal in the 'higher-catch' category of six or more animals. The lowest number of reported harvests was for mule deer.

3.6.2 Risk Perception of CWD

The literature on risk and environmental hazards points to the differences in risk perception between scientific experts and the public (Decker et al. 2012; Fabisiak 2020), with the often-assumed more objective perception of risks that experts hold being just as influenced by cultural, social, economic, and political context as the wider public or other stakeholder groups (Bickerstaff 2004; Slovic 1987; Kasperson et al. 1988; Spicer et al. 2020). Much of the research on risk perception around CWD in Alberta and in the United States focuses on the perspectives of white settler hunters or landowners (Zimmer, Boxall and Adamowicz 2011; Schuler et al. 2016; Heberlein and Stedman 2009; Vaske et al.
2004; Vaske and Miller 2018; Needham and Vaske 2008; Muringai and Goddard 2018), leaving a gap in the literature where Indigenous perspectives on the issue are underrepresented, despite the direct impact that CWD could have on subsistence food systems in central Alberta (Zimmer, Boxall and Adamowicz 2011).

CWD researchers and health authorities such as the Canadian Food Inspection Agency state that there is no current evidence that the disease could cross the species barrier into humans (CFIA 2020b). However, the same health authorities recommend that no part of an infected animal should be consumed (CFIA 2020b), and that caution should be taken when handling carcasses, especially with tissues such as the brain and spinal cord (Belay et al. 2004). In Alberta, mule deer are the animal that are most affected by CWD, with the prevalence of CWD in male mule deer reaching up to 55% in WMUs of concern in the 2019 surveillance period (Government of Alberta 2020b).

The majority of survey respondents stated that they felt some level of concern about CWD (Figure 3-7), and with deer being the most affected species in the province, this metric was compared with the frequency of trips taken for deer hunting as well as the level of harvest for both types of deer. While respondents who felt both 'somewhat concerned' and 'very concerned' about CWD were present in all deer hunting frequency groupings, half of respondents who reported going on no hunting trips for deer felt 'very concerned' about CWD (Table 3-4). However, this question referred to deer in general, and did not differentiate between white-tailed deer and mule deer. In an attempt to determine if the low rate of mule deer harvested by survey respondents is due to concern

about CWD, the metric of harvest frequency for each deer type was compared to the reported level of concern about CWD. For those that responded to the question about how many mule deer they had harvested in the past six-month period, the grouping that had the highest proportion of respondents who felt 'very concerned' about CWD was those who had harvested no mule deer (Figure 3-9). However, each other mule deer harvest grouping had a large proportion of respondents who felt 'somewhat concerned' about CWD. In comparison, there were more respondents who harvested no white-tailed deer who felt 'very concerned' about CWD than those who harvested no white-tailed deer (Figure 3-10). Consistent with interpretations by Parlee et al. (2021) of Indigenous hunters surveyed in northern Alberta, survey respondents who feel a heightened level of concern about CWD may avoid hunting mule deer due to the prevalence of the disease in this species.

Survey respondents were also asked about how their risk perception about CWD affected their attitudes about hunting in general and hunting locations. A higher percentage of respondents (Table 3-5) reported that their level of concern about CWD did not affect whether they choose to go hunting or not. However, 58% of respondents said that concern about CWD did have some affect on where they choose to hunt. Research on CWD and the risk perception of hunters in North America has demonstrated that hunters who are more risk-sensitive are more likely to change their hunting habits in response to CWD being present in their hunting range (Schuler et al. 2016; Zimmer, Boxall & Adamowicz 2011; Vaske and Miller 2018; Miller 2004; Vaske et al. 2004). These findings can be compared to previous studies on risk perception of CWD in recreational

hunters, which found that the impact of CWD on hunting in Alberta did not appear to be significant (Zimmer, Boxall & Adamowicz 2011). Social and cultural factors that could influence the higher levels of risk perception around CWD in a community such as Maskwacîs include the roles that traditional food, and the species threatened by CWD, play in both cultural and personal wellbeing (Furgal, Powell & Myers 2005) as well as food security, especially for low-income households (Nelson, Natcher & Hickey 2005).

These findings suggest that paired with other reported factors such as land privatization including agricultural spread and industry activity (Figure 3-2), the encroachment of CWD on central Alberta contributes to Indigenous hunters' issues of access to areas for subsistence hunting. While the loss of physical access to traditional territories is only one aspect of how colonial systems and their constraints on Indigenous communities affect food security and cultural wellbeing (Nikolopoulos et al. 2020), it does bring attention to the difference between rights to traditional land and the ability to access it for benefits like safe traditional foods. The UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (2007), of which Canada is a signatory, states that Indigenous peoples have the right to "be secure in the enjoyment of their own means of subsistence and development, and to engage freely in their traditional and other economic activities" (Article 20.1). The issues of access to the kind of suitable land with healthy wildlife populations for subsistence hunting and cultural activities brought forward by survey responses, including the threat of CWD, bring to light the broader range of social factors that prevent groups or individuals from benefiting from resources, even if they have the rights to them (Ribot and Peluso 2003).

3.6.3 Risk Management and Community-Based Monitoring

The way that risk is communicated about a food-related risk, as well as the cultural context of the people interpreting the risk and receiving the communication, can influence how they respond to health advisories concerning food (Willows 2005). With the majority of hunters surveyed in this study expressing some level of concern about CWD (Figure 3-7), and the reported effect this concern has had on hunting behavior (Table 3-5), there is concern that local perceptions of risk could negatively impact traditional food consumption when it comes to cervid species (Miller 2004).

Risk perception can change depending on personal level of control and involvement in the management of the issue at hand (Heath, Bradshaw & Lee 2002). In the case of a wildlife disease like CWD, allowing for the communities most affected by the disease to have a significant role in the risk management process and to be engaged in the monitoring could provide a sense of control and provide more certainty in the health of wildlife and traditional foods in their area (Fabisiak 2020). Many social scientists have advocated for participatory decision-making in issues of environmental risk to allow for a wider range of perspectives to contribute to management, which not only addresses differences in preferences and values, but also provides an opportunity to check the scientific or bureaucratic communities for knowledge gaps and expert biases (Bickerstaff 2004; Slovic 1987; Van Wassenhove et al. 2012). It is from these approaches to risk management that community-based methods of research and monitoring have become methods of choice (Fabisiak 2020; Heath, Bradshaw and Lee 2002), and have been incorporated into resource management with multiple stakeholder groups including

Indigenous peoples and nations (Henri, Jean-Gagnon & Gilchrist 2018; Tremblay et al. 2006; Wilson et al. 2018). The engagement of community members that are affected by an environmental issue such as wildlife disease can help risk managers to identify aspects of the problem that were previously unknown to them (Fabisiak 2020), such as cultural sensitivities that may impact management activities. Additionally, non-scientific conceptualization of risks that tend to be expressed by the public or stakeholder groups that are deemed 'non-experts' can be much richer than some technical assessments, and better reflect the legitimate concerns of the community that are often lacking in expert risk assessments (Slovic 1987).

Critics of participatory risk management methods point to the lack of scientific or theoretical foundation in the public's perception of risks, and suggest that basing policy decisions off of experiential knowledge would result in complicated, biased policies (Bickerstaff 2004; Cross 1998). While the complicated nature of participatory research and management cannot be understated, in order to acknowledge the inherent connection of social context and how it influences risk perception and management, decision-making must involve more than just the dominant governing group (Fabisiak 2020; Furgal, Powell, & Myers 2005). Instead of a patronizing model of risk communication that utilizes one-way dissemination of information from the expert scientific and governing branches to the wider public, a 'two-way communication model' (Powell and Leiss 1997) that addresses the complex social and cultural factors that can influence risk perception and behavior, and addresses a need to build trust between risk managers, scientific experts and Indigenous communities (Furgal, Powell and Myers 2005; Fabisiak 2020).

For the management of a wildlife disease like CWD in Alberta, which relies heavily on the participation of hunters across the province to monitor its spread, working alongside Indigenous communities to address local perceptions of risk and engage hunters in the monitoring of the disease would not only better address the high perception of risk about CWD in Maskwacîs, but would also increase the amount of hunters contributing data to the provincial monitoring program by addressing the issues of access with the current program.

3.7 Conclusions

The fatal and highly transmissible nature of CWD as a wildlife disease of cervid species makes it a direct threat to the traditional diets and culture of Indigenous peoples in central Alberta (Zimmer, Boxall, & Adamowicz 2011). The significance of this threat is expressed in the local perception of risk about CWD; some Indigenous hunters are changing their hunting behaviors to avoid areas affected by the disease (Table 3-5), and the majority of hunters surveyed reporting some level of concern about CWD (Figure 3-7). Despite the high level of concern felt by Indigenous hunters, the provincial CWD monitoring program remains oriented towards recreational hunters. For example, drop-off freezers for accepting samples in rural areas are only available during the fall licensed hunting season (Government of Alberta, n.d.1), when Indigenous hunters are able to hunt throughout the year. The Government of Alberta's CWD monitoring program relies on hunter participation to track the spread of the disease, but may be alienating Indigenous hunters from participating, despite almost half of survey respondents expressing interest in participating in the program (Table 3-6).

Addressing knowledge gaps, cultural gaps, and disagreements between all the groups in charge of and impacted by CWD and its management will allow for decisions to be made that reflect the views and risk perceptions of everyone involved (Schuler et al. 2016). However, this is a difficult task, especially when the relationship between those who regulate and those who are regulated is often strained, and true participation is often limited by racism and colonialism as the perspectives of certain communities or groups are devalued (Schuler et al. 2016; Kojola 2019). The decision-making process becomes more inclusive through improvements in its addressing of barriers to participating in conversation, including providing the resources to attend meetings, access to the required information, participatory forms of discussion, and importantly, the recognition of Indigenous knowledge and sovereignty (O'Faircheallaigh 2007). The allowance of other knowledge systems into the risk assessment and planning process broadens the scope of the technical experts, checking for knowledge gaps and the biases that scientists, like the public and other stakeholders, base their assessment techniques on (Bickerstaff 2004). Lastly, in working towards a constructive and realistic system of decision-making that acknowledges the strain in relationships between stakeholders and those that govern the resource, especially between Indigenous communities and governments with colonial foundations, a constructive way forward together must be developed even for situations where trust may not be immediately attainable (Slovic 1993).

CHAPTER 4.0: Community-based monitoring: A tool for expanding knowledge on Chronic Wasting Disease

4.1 Introduction

Community-based approaches to monitoring and citizen science have increased in their application in the last decades, particularly those that involve Indigenous communities. Many of these programs aim to create new knowledge about valued places, species or issues with the aspiration of improving the sustainability of ecosystems and communities (WHO 2015). A growing number of monitoring initiatives that are inclusive of Indigenous knowledge and/or are led by Indigenous peoples themselves in Canada, have specifically dealt with questions of wildlife ecology (Nyhus 2016; IPBES 2019a; Wisely 2019; Messmer 2020). To date, however, very few programs have focused on issues of wildlife disease including prion diseases in ungulates (deer, moose, elk) (Witmer 2005; Rivera et al. 2019; Gillin & Fischer 2018; Williams & Young 1980; Indigenous Services Canada 2019; CFIA 2020a). As Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) continues to spread across Alberta from the eastern provincial border, concern about the disease's potential impact on cervid species in the region and the health and food security of Indigenous communities in affected areas has been expressed by Indigenous leadership. Building on previous relationships and research experience on animal health and CWD with Dene and Northern Cree in Alberta (Witmer 2005; Leiss et al. 2017), this paper discusses the process of developing a community-based monitoring program for CWD in Maskwacîs, Alberta. Under the direction of the leadership of the Treaty 6 Confederacy a research collaboration was developed with the Samson Cree Nation Community Freezer Program and work carried out between 2018-2020. This paper shares the outcomes of this

collaboration; more specifically we share principles of design that were developed around five key questions: a) why is community-based monitoring important and needed to address the issue of chronic wasting disease?; b) what kind of knowledge should be the basis of monitoring? c) who should be involved?; d) what are the most appropriate practices and methods for monitoring?; and e) what knowledge needs can the monitoring program address?

Outcomes of this collaborative design process suggest the importance of ground community-based monitoring of CWD around Indigenous and Treaty rights to harvest wildlife and in recognition of the value of wild meat to local food security. Embracing Indigenous knowledge, practices and beliefs as well as cultural protocols for respecting animals and people. Insights about monitoring as a socio-political process also emerged through this collaboration; as such the "community-based monitoring program" that was developed not only aims to generate knowledge about the spread of CWD; it is also an act of sovereignty over local lands and resources. By designing and implementation the monitoring program, Samson seeks to manage the risks associated with the spread of CWD and by so doing increase confidence of local members in the health of traditional food. We posit that by doing this work, Samson Cree Nation is also confronting the significant inequities that exist in wildlife management in the province of Alberta, rooted in two centuries of colonization and creating new opportunities for the co-production or braiding of Indigenous knowledge and other knowledges (e.g., prion science) that are needed to manage the spread of CWD. Given concerns about wildlife disease and human-wildlife health questions have growing as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic,

greater opportunities for community-based monitoring are urgently needed both in Canada and globally.

4.2 Literature Review

4.2.1 Social-Ecological Approach

It is becoming increasingly recognized that the management and conservation of natural resources, such as wildlife, both impacts and is impacted by social, economic, and ecological drivers (Cumming & Allen 2017; Parlee et al. 2012). In complex socialecological systems, the individual resource system, units of the resource, users of the resource, and the governance system have the capacity to affect each other in a way that produces changes on the social ecological system level, which can then feed back to affect the resource system or other social ecological systems (Ostrom 2009; Berkes 2017; Folke et al. 2016). A perspective that takes into account the connectivity of the social and ecological aspects of resource use and its impacts has much to offer to resourcedependent communities, resource managers, and policy-makers (Cumming & Allen 2017). While science plays an important role in working towards the sustainability of these systems (Ostrom 2009), academia and governments have turned to Indigenous knowledge systems to develop a better understanding of the social-ecological nature of the systems, which aligns with the holism of Indigenous ways of knowing (Thompson et al. 2019; Berkes & Berkes 2009; Bohensky & Maru 2011).

A social-ecological perspective is crucial to the understanding of indigenous knowledge in the monitoring of environments and natural resources (Stenekes et al. 2020). Through a social-ecological approach to monitoring, the environment of interest and the social

systems that interact with it are seen as connected, and the consideration of multiple values as the environment as a cultural landscape are taken into account (Stenekes et al. 2020; Whitney et al. 2017). The contributions of multiple knowledge types, including western science and indigenous knowledge, are thus useful for monitoring projects with a social-ecological approach in order to attempt to understand the complexity of the resource system (Folke et al. 2005; Folke 2006; Folke et al. 2016; Berkes 2017).

4.2.2 Indigenous Rights and Wildlife Harvesting

Wildlife harvesting by First Nations and Métis peoples in Alberta is a protected right under historic treaties with the state (i.e., Crown) and Supreme Court case law (Wobeser 2002; Decker et al. 2006; Berger-Tal & Lahoz-Monfort 2018; Lunstrum 2015; Parlee 2017; Duffy et al. 2019; Berkes 1998; Brook & McLachlan 2008). Despite this strong legal foundation, Indigenous values and practices of wildlife harvesting is often little understood or respected by governments, industry or the public at large (Parlee et al. 2005). Centuries of colonization in Canada led to the marginalization of Indigenous peoples including their "enclosures" onto reserve lands, criminalization of cultural and subsistence practices and efforts at cultural assimilation (e.g., residential schools). These histories of colonization are also visible in the Alberta Wildlife Management Act and decisions about wildlife use in Alberta which have privileged recreational hunting rather and Indigenous subsistence and cultural uses (Witmer 2005; Parlee 2017). Such biases in wildlife management systems are also visible in the kinds of opportunities that have been created for Indigenous peoples (including Samson Cree Nation) to access knowledge about the risks of prion diseases in their hunting territories and harvested animals.

4.2.3 Chronic Wasting Disease

The COVID-19 pandemic has created many new questions about human-wildlife interactions and their impacts on human health and socio-economic systems (Messmer 2020). In that context, monitoring of wildlife populations is of urgent importance (Witmer 2005). Among the diseases of growing concern in western Canada is Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD), a fatal, highly contagious transmissible spongiform encephalopathy (TSE) that affects species in the cervidae family, including but not limited to deer, elk, and moose (Rivera et al. 2019; Gillin & Fischer 2018). First diagnosed in deer housed at a wildlife research facility in the state of Colorado in the 1960s (Williams & Young 1980), the disease has now spread from the United States into Canada, where it has been detected in three provinces; Alberta, Saskwatchewan, and Quebec (Indigenous Services Canada 2019). Internationally, CWD has been found in South Korea, Norway, Sweden, and Finland (Gillin & Fischer 2018; Indigenous Services Canada 2019). While there is currently no definitive evidence that CWD can be transmitted to humans, the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (2020a) recommends against the consumption or use of meat or tissues from an infected animal. The cultural and dietary importance of moose, deer, and elk to Indigenous communities in Canada means that the spread of CWD presents significant risk to the traditional lifestyle and cultures of these communities (Leiss et al. 2017). Much of the knowledge produced about the causes and symptoms of CWD, as well as tactics of surveillance, have been produced within a narrow field of research and among a small number of scientific experts. How other knowledges of wildlife health (i.e., Indigenous knowledge) can contribute to learning about the spread of the disease has been little studied.

4.2.4. Community-Based Monitoring Based on Indigenous Knowledge

There are growing concerns about wildlife diseases and their impacts on ecosystems and people. In addition to issues of animal welfare and conservation, growing losses and degradation of wildlife habitat and protection is leading to increases in human-wildlife interaction (WHO 2015; Nyhus 2016; IPBES 2019b; Wisely 2019). Thus, the monitoring of wildlife and their associated diseases has become increasingly important for wildlife managers (Nusser et al. 2008; Artois et al. 2009; Mörner et al. 2002).

Contemporary methods of wildlife monitoring and management are rooted in population ecology and veterinary medicine, operationalized in a top-down institutional framework (Wisely 2019; Wobeser 2002; Decker et al. 2006) with the tendency towards invasive methods, technologies and procedures (e.g., capture-mark-recapture). Indeed, a common feature of many of the technologies used by conservation biologists is that they were originally developed for military purpose and use, rather than inspired by principles of human-wildlife co-existence and care (Berger-Tal & Lahoz-Monfort 2018; Lunstrum 2015; Parlee 2017). Technological solutions to surveillance are also expensive and there is "a lack of transparency about the effectiveness of such technologies, the costs of which run into millions of dollars" (Duffy et al. 2019 p. 67). Finding viable alternative approaches and technologies has been challenging, and is thus of growing interest to academics, governments, NGOs and communities with long term relationships to valued wildlife species. Among those who can offer viable alternatives to conventional monitoring are Indigenous peoples.

Indigenous peoples have approaches to monitoring wildlife that have developed over many generations of sustainable use (Berkes 1998; Brook & McLachlan 2008; Parlee et al. 2005). Indigenous knowledge practices and institutions (or rules) have been critical to the conservation of wildlife in northern Canada and many areas of the globe (IPBES 2019b; Schultz et al. 2019; Alcorn 1993; Huntington 2008). Although evidence of the systematic way in which knowledge is gathered and the unique insights of culturally developed indicators have been explored, Indigenous peoples and knowledge systems have been marginalized in monitoring and management in Canada when compared to academics, governments and conservation organizations (Parlee et al. 2018; Alcorn 1993; Dowie 2011; Howitt 2001). This can be due to concerns expressed by government bodies and environmental management institutions that monitoring data collected by volunteers is not as credible as scientific data; in many cases, Western science tends to dominate over alternative ways of understanding such as Indigenous traditional knowledge (LaRiviere & Crawford 2013; Nadasdy 1999). A growing number of Indigenous organizations are engaged in community-based monitroing (CBM) as opportunities to address inequities in the production of knowledge, including that which informs the management of wildlife and other valued natural resources (Parlee et al. 2014; Kutz & Tomaselli 2019; Whitelaw et al. 2003).

Citizen science and CBM offer a potential solution for individuals and communities seeking greater engagement in monitoring and for governments and resource managers seeking to learn more from hunters and other land users. Citizen scientists are volunteers or others who engage in collecting data for the purpose of building and sharing

knowledge about an ecological phenomenon. There are a burgeoning number of citizen science programs globally, the oldest known being the Audubon Christmas Bird Count which began in the United States in 1900 (Silvertown 2009). CBM programs involve the monitoring of natural resources that by local resource-users and stakeholders, government agencies, and academics with the objective of addressing the specific needs and wants of the community (EMAN and CNF 2002), and can also refer to local stakeholders using community resources to engage in monitoring to achieve objectives that are appropriate for their own needs (Danielsen et al. 2009).

Opportunities created by community-based monitoring to address specific community needs and address inequities in knowledge production are thus important. There are also opportunities for community-based monitoring to create new kinds of knowledge that might be braided together with that created through prion science. These opportunities may be in the form of new observations of unhealthy animals, their distribution and other related aspects of ecology; however, other ontological aspects of wildlife disease risk may also be developed through Indigenous led monitoring (Witmer 2005). As evidenced elsewhere, scientific 'experts' and Indigenous peoples tend to view health risks differently (Howitt 2001; Silvertown 2009; EMAN & CNF 2002). This may be the result of a host of socio-economic factors but may also be rooted in different values, beliefs and uses of wildlife (i.e., as food) as well as long term relationships of stewardship. Other research also shows Indigenous peoples have a level of trust in their own knowledge and capacities to assess wildlife health and use this knowledge to make decisions about harvest and consumption of traditional foods as well as in respect of other aspects of conservation (Witmer 2005; Danielsen et al. 2009; Stokes et al. 1990). It is in this

context of strong trust of their own knowledge (and long histories of mistrust of government) that community-based monitoring plays an important niche role CWD surveillance as well as in the management of perceived risk of CWD as it relates to harvest and food security.

A key design consideration is how knowledge produced from community-based monitoring of CWD can dovetail with other types of knowledge (i.e., prion science), management institutions and processes. In the spirit of reconciliation and building more robust and equitable systems of wildlife management in Alberta and elsewhere, community-based monitoring outcomes and those produced through other kinds of methods and surveillance efforts may contribute to the decolonization of science and new opportunities for shared learning and management (Howitt 2001; Battiste 2005; Ball & Janyst 2008; Nadasdy 1999). It is in this context that we discuss a community-based monitoring program collaboratively designed by researchers and leaders of the Samson Cree Nation Community Freezer Program in Maskwacîs, Alberta.

4.3 Setting

Samson Cree Nation along with three other First Nations Bands (Louis Bull, Ermineskin, and Montana) are located on the Maskwacîs (The Bear Hills), reserve but have histories of land and resource use that extend into many parts of the prairie regions of present-day Alberta and Saskatchewan. With a population of 8,436, Samson Cree Nation is one of the largest Bands in Canada (Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada 2017). The Canadian government named the community Hobbema in 1891 after a Dutch landscape painter, but the name was changed back to its name of Cree origin – Maskwacîs - in 2004. The Cree

name means Bear Hills referring to the historic importance of the area to bear populations who were attracted to the area (Samson Cree Nation 2013).

The population of Maskwacîs is young with a median age of 18-23 years. Although close to the major urban centres of Edmonton and Red Deer and having access to oil and gas and agricultural resources, the community continues to engage in subsistence food harvest with the hunting of deer, moose, elk and ungulates making an important contribution to local diets. A community freezer program, which involves the harvest, storage, and distribution of meat for community Elders and families in need, is located at the Howard Buffalo Memorial Centre. The Samson Cree, like other First Nations in Alberta and Canada have rights to hunt, which are protected under Treaty and the Canadian Constitution. Hunting is done not only for subsistence but also as part of the identity and culture of the community. Cree hunters work together in harvesting and animals are respected in the harvest in ways that reflect local cultural principles and protocols (Table 4-1).

Principles	Description	
Pimacihowin: Way of Life	The knowledge and guidance of Elders make meaning to our Cree thought, language and way of life. We sustain and maintain the essence of promoting the ideal quality of living for all People by maximizing our human resources. We will collectively promote socio-economic growth within our community and for future generations.	
Wahkohtowin: Kinship	We believe in strengthening families and building positive relationships within our community.	
Sakitowin: Love	We will continue to move towards productive lives, promoting our Cree culture, language and traditional values by being caring and compassionate with all our People. We believe that love and sharing are essential for the development of a safe and healthy community.	
Tapwewin: Honesty	We believe truth and honesty are fundamental in empowering our Nation. We will provide guidance and make collective decisions, which benefit the community and future generations.	

 Table 4-1: Principles of Samson Cree Nation Governance (Samson Cree Nation n.d.)

For example, Cree hunters are instructed on important teachings that focus on respecting and honouring the lives of animals taken to sustain the community (Johnson 2017). These teachings are tied to the law of ohcinêwin, which covers the breaking of a law against any non-human life (McAdam 2019). Only selecting certain parts of an animal to take, overhunting, and the hunting of pregnant animals are disrespectful to the spirit of the animal. There is also a planning and decision-making process before carrying out the hunt; people do not simply harvest in an adhoc fashion, as trophy hunting or hunting for purely recreation is seen as disrespectful (Johnson 2017).

You see, the hunting of course we do in the physical, right, but I've learned through the years that hunting is a very, very, very spiritual process. (Kacey Yellowbird, Samson Community Freezer Program organizer)

I believe, you know, that's why we're able to harvest our animals when we do go out, and to make sure we're always in balance. We're always offering a proper protocols, and we're always respecting the land, but also respecting the animals that we've harvested. (Kacey Yellowbird, Samson Community Freezer Program organizer)

4.3.1 The Chronic Wasting Disease Context

Cases of CWD in cervid species in Alberta have been spreading west and north in the province, with 10 wildlife management units (WMU) reporting positive CWD cases in the 2019 surveillance season that had not previously had positive cases (Figure 4-1) (Government of Alberta n.d.1). Maskwacîs is located on the edge of WMU 226, whose neighbouring WMUs have reported CWD cases since 2017 or earlier. In 2019, WMU 226 reported its first positive case of CWD.



Figure 4-1: Range of positive CWD cases in Alberta 2019.

With CWD having reached Maskwacîs, the wildlife within the territories of the four First Nations, including Samson Cree Nation, are at a higher risk of contracting the disease. WMU 226 was placed on the list of WMUs that require mandatory deer head submission for the testing of CWD for the 2019 surveillance year (Government of Alberta 2019a). Considering the level of engagement in subsistence harvesting that takes place in Maskwacîs and the close proximity of CWD, the monitoring of this disease in the Maskwacîs area would not only provide important environmental health information for the Indigenous Nations in the area, but would also supplement the provincially-led monitoring program with information specific to the newly affected CWD border area.

The following sections will describe how the pilot community-monitoring program for Chronic Wasting Disease was developed in Maskwacîs, Alberta between Samson Cree Nation and the University of Alberta in adherence to the principles of community-based research.

4.3.2 Methods

A collaboration was developed between the researchers and members of the Samson Cree Nation Community Freezer Program which was established in 2010, and is led by the manager of the Samson Youth and Sports Development department out of the Howard Buffalo Memorial Centre in the townsite of the Samson Cree Nation reservation in Maskwacîs (third author).

This program involves the harvest, storage, and distribution of meat to Elders and community members in need. Each year, six hunts are organized during the hunting season and winter months, with successful harvests being brought back to the Howard Buffalo Memorial Centre for cleaning, butchering, and distribution. Through these activities, young or new hunters have the opportunity to engage in hunting and butchering and learn from experienced hunters. The Samson Community Freezer Program has the capacity to hold approximately 800lbs of wild meat; even when the freezers are full, the meat is gone within several days. Over the decade it has been in operation, the Samson

Community Freezer Program has benefited over 400 families by providing meat for both cultural events and personal needs.

[The] program itself didn't really work out because I took a top-down approach ... People weren't buying into it. So what I did was I started talking to our community members, to grassroots people, and I asked them, I said 'Hey look, this is what I'm doing' and really had to introduce myself to our community members. Because, we see people on a day to day constantly, but you don't really know somebody until you have an in depth conversation with them. So I went to my community members, I told them 'Hey, this is what we're going to do, this is a project we're going to run, do you guys support it?'. And slowly and slowly it started to build and started to gain interest and now it's a fully flourishing and community project, you know, for the people, by the people, and I'm very thankful. (Kacey Yellowbird, Samson Community Freezer Program organizer)

This kind of program has the foundation upon which a CBM program specific to CWD monitoring could be built - it is comprised of a group of community members that have a strong connection with the land and wildlife in and surrounding Maskwacîs, including experienced hunters that have the experiential knowledge to recognize the signs of healthy and unhealthy animals. Additionally, the Samson Community Freezer Program has a strong connection to the community's values and needs; in 2019, the program recieved a prestigious award from the Alberta Recreation and Parks Association's Communities Choosewell program for its innovation, strong community spirit, and its relevance for working to maintain food security within the community programs such as the Samson Community Freezer Program for the development of a CWD CBM program will help ensure that community voices and concerns are the foundation for this monitoring program.

The collaboration between the freezer program and the University of Alberta developed after interest was shared by members of the nation about other work led in other regions of Alberta.

Twenty meetings held between 2019-2021 between the lead researcher and members of Samson Cree Nation leadership. More specifically, these meetings dealt with fundamental questions such as: a) why is community-based monitoring important and needed to address the issue of chronic wasting disease?; b) what kind of knowledge should be the basis of monitoring? c) who should be involved?; d) what are the most appropriate practices and methods for monitoring?; and e) what knowledge need can a monitoring program address? These meetings included a meeting with Chiefs of the Confederacy of Treaty Six First Nations, Treaty 8 First Nations of Alberta and the Treaty 7 First Nations Chiefs' Association (T7FNCA) that resulted in a resolution for ongoing research collaboration around the spread of Chronic Wasting Disease with the University of Alberta. Guided by this resolution, and the invitation of leaders from Samson Cree Nation, a project was initiated with funding from Genome Canada and the Alberta Prion Research Institute with a (grant to fourth author). A graduate student (lead author) and an undergraduate student member of the Samson Cree Nation (second author) who had facilitated relationship building with the leadership were hired to carry out the design and implementation of the research. The manager of the Samson Cree Nation Community Freezer Program (third author) worked closely with the research team to carry out this work. Once the study approach was defined, human research ethics approvals were sought and granted in 2019 (Pro00061804).



Figure 4-2: Chart showing research activities conducted between Samson Cree Nation (SCN) and the research team to initiate the development of a community-based monitoring program for Chronic Wasting disease.

The work was carried out with inspiration from methodologies of community-based participatory action research (Schensul et al. 2008), and decolonizing research methodologies which challenge research to consider their positionality in research as both an enterprise of social justice and as an opportunity for reconciliation (Kouril et al. 2015; Parlee et al. 2014). The inclusion of community members as research partners at all stages of the project, from planning to execution to the use of the resulting data, align with the tenants of community-based participatory action research through the cocreation of knowledge, project co-ownership, and the dissemination of the results in a way that is mutually beneficial for both the research institution and the community (Wilson et al. 2018). This process is illustrated in Figure 4-2.

4.4 Findings - How-to: Community-based Monitoring of CWD

4.4.1 Ensuring Guidance from Indigenous Leadership

Representatives from Samson Cree Nation expressed interest in becoming involved, setting into motion several months of communication with the University of Alberta and hunters, organizers of programs such as the Community Freezer Program, and local leadership. After several meetings to discuss Samson Cree Nation's wants and needs for the purpose and scope of the project, it was approved by the Samson Cree Nation Band and Council, a research agreement was signed in June of 2019, and a community research partner from Samson Cree Nation was hired.

4.4.2 Respecting Indigenous Rights to Harvest and Other Treaty Rights

Samson Cree Nation has long histories of hunting and other land uses of the reserve lands currently defined as Maskwacîs. But their traditional territory for hunting extends well beyond these borders. Research about CWD in ungulates requires not only recognizing but embracing these rights such that hunters and other land users from the Nation are key actors of the project – they are knowledge holders with expertise garnered through their hunting activities. They are also beneficiaries of research outcomes who can learn from the project and utilize that knowledge in their harvesting practices. This approach is unique from many other framing and of Indigenous peoples in relation to surveillance of CWD or in other kinds of research. In many most other examples of CWD research in

Alberta, Indigenous harvesters are not considered or engaged or are framed as passive recipients of information created by scientists and government 'experts'.

4.4.3 The Importance of Cervids to Diet, Economy, and Cultural Continuity

A key starting point with the project is the recognition that cervid species have an important place in the diets and livelihoods of Samson Cree Nation. The majority of current CWD surveillance is led by technicians and scientists for whom deer, elk and moose are an object being studied rather than a source of food or basis of culture, spirituality and economy. Many members of Samson Cree Nation are food insecure and depend on meat from the Samson Community Freezer Program to feed their families. Changing from a traditional foods-based diet of wild meats like deer, moose, and elk to store-bought domesticated meats like pork and beef can have nutritional and health implications for Indigenous people (e.g., increased risk of cardio vascular disease). In addition to being a healthier option than store-bought meats, traditional foods and the hunting and on-the-land activities that procure them are more than just physically healthy - they are an important part of spiritual and respectful relationships between humans, the animals, and the land. The expression of Indigenous culture and identity through the collection and consumption of traditional foods is an important part of overall well-being.

4.4.4 Broader Social-Ecological Approach

The design of the CWD monitoring program by Samson Cree Nation is also based on the recognition that this prion disease is only one aspect of the stresses on ecosystems and wildlife in their traditional territories. Climate change impacts including decreased precipitation, forest fire events as well as extreme weather events (e.g., spring ice-over

events) have also been a major stress for wildlife. However, agricultural development, ranching, urbanization, pipeline development and recreational land use are critical stresses on wildlife which have complicated population dynamics, predator prey relationships as well as health conditions (e.g., bioaccumulation of contaminants etc.). Social conflicts between non-Indigenous peoples and Samson Cree Nation members (e.g., land holders, government officials) and the privileging of non-Indigenous recreational hunting of moose, deer and elk rather than subsistence harvesting by Indigenous peoples is also important context to understanding how the risks of CWD affect people from Samson Cree Nation. The community-based monitoring project led by Samson Cree Nation thus designed to confront and include these broader dynamics.

4.4.5 Barriers to Learning and Sharing Knowledge

A key issue that is confronted through the design of the monitoring program relates to access to knowledge about CWD. Much of the knowledge created about the risks of CWD as well as the mechanisms for testing are not accessible to Indigenous peoples in Alberta. This is in part due to social factors (e.g., levels of education and lack of Indigenous representation in the fields of STEM) but also have to do with the biases that exist in academic institutions and government agencies where Indigenous peoples are poorly presented. One of the most specific barriers in the context of CWD is access to testing by government laboratories. In addition to physical and economic barriers for those living a long distance from the testing facilities in Edmonton, there are long histories of poor communication and lack of collaborating in managing wildlife, there administrative barriers associated with submitting heads for testing. Many experiences of hunters from Samson Cree Nation suggest that if the tag is not fully filled out by a hunter,

testing cannot be completed.. In other words, labels provided for the Alberta Chronic Wasting Disease Program require a Wildlife Identification Number (WIN), and tag number which Indigenous peoples are not given by government. As a result, few animals harvested by Nation members had been tested, prior to the start of our community-based monitoring program. Given that results from testing can take more than 3 months to deliver to hunters (long after meat is consumed in the community) there is little incentive to try and meet government administrative requirements for testing. Additionally, a lack of trust in elite, and majority white, science and ongoing tensions and conflict with government officials involved in wildlife management (e.g. fish and game wardens) have also contributed to the landscape of poor communication and learning between scientists, wildlife managers, and Indigenous peoples.

A key consideration in the design the project was creating opportunities for the Nation and other Indigenous peoples. Designing the project to determine the knowledge needs of the community and the best fit for the project was a key starting point. This was done in three ways: i) increasing availability of CWD information for community members, ii) inclusion of community voices into CWD education and management materials, and iii) increasing communication between Samson Cree Nation and existing government-led monitoring programs (Table 4-2).

Project Design Goal	Outcomes
Increasing availability of CWD information for community members	Creation of toolkits and guidebooks: information on CWD in portable formats developed by the research team and distributed throughout the community (ie. band office, health centre, community centre, etc.) Community workshops: hosted by the Samson Community Freezer Program and University of Alberta, providing opportunities for communication between community members and researchers to share knowledge on CWD, community concerns, and observe demonstrations (ie. how to properly prepare an animal for CWD testing).
Inclusion of community voices into CWD education and management materials	Semi-structured interviews with elders and hunters: conducted in order to document a baseline understanding of ungulate health, contemporary social-ecological context observations, and a broad understanding of the community's perspectives on the risks posed by CWD Surveys: when permitted, in-person surveys were conducted with hunters and landusers to record perceptions of local wildlife health. In March 2020, surveys were translated to an online format in accordance with COVID-19 remote work protocols. Creation of informative video: Made in collaboration with Samson Cree Nation, Treaty 8 First Nations of Alberta, and the University of Alberta, the video features perspectives from Indigenous project partners on the importance of monitoring CWD, along with information on the disease.
Increasing communication between Samson Cree Nation and existing government-led monitoring programs	Facilitating ungulate head delivery to GoA lab: To assist in overcoming barriers members of SCN face in participating in the GoA CWD monitoring program, the research team and Samson Community Freezer Program coordinated delivering ungulate heads to the lab in Edmonton for CWD testing. The research team also acted as a conduit for community members to express concerns about the testing process.

 Table 4-2: Project design goals and outcomes

4.4.6 Cultural Protocols for Sharing Knowledge

Centering the voices and needs of the members of Samson Cree Nation was a key design elment of the community-based monitoring program. Ensuring that this was done in a respectful and inclusive way required researchers to learn about the landscape and wildlife in and around Maskwacîs from Elders in the community and oral histories. The nature of this knowledge is sacred; the Nêhiyaw (Cree) worldview emphasizes the connectivity of all living things, and the act of hunting and interacting with wildlife is a personal experience that can be closely connected to one's sense of spirituality. When sharing this kind of sacred knowledge, cultural protocols are to be followed to show the appropriate amount of respect to the knowledge-holders. Cree protocols include the sharing of tobacco from the researcher to the knowledge-holder before the information is shared, the payment of honorarium and gifts to the knowledge-holder after the information is shared, and the acknowledgement of territory. Engaging in knowledgesharing activities with Elders require additional protocol to be followed, including paying a higher rate of honorarium for the knowledge shared, as well as the gifting of other items such as blankets.

In implementing the program, cultural protocol was followed for the participation in interview and survey-based knowledge sharing activities. The appropriate levels of honorarium and types of gifts were established by a community research partner, the Samson Cree Nation Band Office, and the guidelines from the University of Alberta's Council on Aboriginal Initiatives.

4.4.7 Respecting the Cultural Relationships to Place

In addition to understanding the how the risk of CWD spread affects Indigenous communities in Alberta like Maskwacîs, situating the issue of wildlife disease within wider concerns of the community in order to create a context-specific and accessible monitoring program was an important part of the development of this project. After the appropriate cultural protocols were met, we engaged in preliminary interviews with hunters, land-users, and Elders that focused on the participant's own knowledge of the history of wildlife health and hunting in Maskwacîs, and how these may have changed over time. The privitization of land surrounding Maskwacîs and the encroachment of agriculture and other industries minimize the amount of nearby land that is accessible for Indigenous people to exercise their treaty rights on. These concerns about access to suitable land for hunting is further complicated by the threat of CWD affecting wildlife in the Maskwacîs region. For those who do not have the ability to travel farther afield for hunting, having a healthy wildlife population in the remaining nearby areas that are suitable for hunting is crucial for ensuring that traditional activities and foods remain available to everyone.

4.4.8 Working with Hunters - Creating Tools

One of the initial tasks in the development of the CWD community-based monitoring project was to create materials to encourage knowledge mobilization about CWD in Samson Cree Nation, and to focus on information that was relevant to Indigenous community members. Two types of material were developed in coordination with hunters, i) a CWD toolkit manual and pocket brochure for hunters, and ii) a survey tool for use by hunters and land-users to track perceptions of wildlife health in the community over time.

i) *CWD toolbox manual and pocket brochure:* Using an existing CWD toolkit that was developed for Treaty 8 First Nations in northern Alberta during previous research, the authors and the community research partner adapted a version for First Nations in Treaty 6 Territory in central Alberta. This toolbox is titled *Tracking Wildlife Health in Alberta: Lessons for Treaty 6 First Nations of Alberta.* Maps within the toolkit were adapted to include the locations of Treaty 6 communities located in areas where wildlife health monitoring is needed, as well as maps that illustrate where the current spread of CWD is located in terms of the Treaty 6 territory boundaries. A brochure was developed using the information from the updated toolkit with the intention of a more portable, concise source of information that hunters could carry with them. Both the toolkits and brochures were distributed to band offices, health centres, and community gathering spaces within Maskwacîs.

ii) *Survey tool to track perceptions of wildlife health:* A survey tool designed by University of Alberta researchers and Treaty 8 First Nations of Alberta was adapted for use by Treaty 6 First Nations to gather information about animal harvest, consumption, and observations about animal health in the area. The survey contains questions relating to the accessibility of hunting areas in the region, perceptions and observations of the health of cervid species in the area, the consumption of traditional foods, and questions specifically about the participant's current level of knowledge about CWD. As part of the

development of this community-based monitoring program, the authors have conducted this survey with hunters and land-users in the Maskwacîs region to gain understanding about the current perceptions of wildlife health in the area and gain an awareness of outstanding concerns. The intention for this survey is for it to be done on a continual basis and lead by community members, with community research partners conducting the surveys to build a continual dataset of perspectives on wildlife harvest and consumption.

4.4.9 Communication and Relationship Building with the Province of Alberta

Another design principle that emerged related to the healing of relationships between the province of Alberta and hunters from Samson Cree Nation. Many hunters feel that the provincial government authorities do not respect Indigenous hunters nor their rights. As a result there is a reluctance to reach out to government for information need about CWD and its risks in the community. Providing opportunities for communication and engagement between Samson Cree Nation and the provincial government is an important step in working towards a mutually beneficial relationship that is based on co-learning and co-knowledge creation.

In order to assist in overcoming the barriers to Indigenous hunters accessing CWD testing, a part of this community-based monitoring program includes facilitating sample submissions between hunters in Maskwacîs and the Government of Alberta laboratory. University of Alberta researchers and the community research partner would organize a sample pick-up with hunters in Maskwacîs when a deer, elk, or moose had been harvested, and deliver it to the Government of Alberta laboratory in Edmonton on behalf of the hunter. Members of the research team also assist in facilitating communication

between the Government of Alberta laboratory staff and hunters in Maskwacîs on matters of the cultural importance of certain parts of the animal head and nervous system to Indigenous hunters, issues with testing results being shared with Indigenous hunters, and questions about the testing process. While this work acts as a starting point for relationship-building and improving communication, actions must be taken to ensure that this relationship becomes reciprocal; unless the Government of Alberta shows an increased willingness to share testing data, address the barriers to Indigenous hunter participation in the current provincial CWD testing program, and involve First Nations in the decision-making processes of CWD management, the benefits of community-based management for both parties may not be realized.

4.5 Discussion

The health of wildlife as well as the decline of biodiversity and ecosystem services are a global concernThe COVID-19 pandemic has created many new questions about humanwildlife interactions and their impacts on human health and socio-economic systems (Schultz et al. 2019). In this context, monitoring of wildlife populations is of urgent importance (Alcorn 1993). Among the diseases of growing concern in western Canada is CWD. Knowledge and capacity to track the impacts of this disease are currently limited; access to knowledge and expertise about the risks of the disease are also siloed in government and academic institutions. Among those with the least access to such knowledge are Indigenous peoples including Samson Cree Nation who depend on ungulates (moose, deer, elk) for food and whose rights to harvest are protected as part of Canadian law (i.e., Treaty and inherent rights).

The need for community engagement in the monitoring of wildlife and wildlife disease is strong; the rich knowledge and experience held by subsistence-oriented landusers has the potential to result in earlier detection of diseases in wildlife populations (Tomaselli 2018b). In Indigenous communities that have a long history tied to a specific geographic area, a long-term understanding of the ecological characteristics can contribute to applicable conservation knowledge (Berkes & Turner 2006). In this context, we have shared the outcomes of a collaborative design of a community-based monitoring program that involved members of Samson Cree Nation and university researchers. Community-based monitoring programs are increasing in Canada and around the world, however few have focused on issues of wildlife disease and even fewer have been based around Indigenous knowledge systems (Pollock & Whitelaw 2005; Kouril et al. 2015). It is in this context that these design principles for monitoring have been shared.

Outcomes of this design process suggest the importance of grounding community-based monitoring of CWD around Indigenous and Treaty rights to harvest wildlife and in recognition of the value of wild meat to local food security, embracing Indigenous knowledge, practices and beliefs as well as cultural protocols for respecting animals and people. Insights about monitoring as a socio-political process also emerged through this collaboration; as such the "community-based monitoring program" that was developed not only aims to generate knowledge about the spread of CWD; it is also an act of sovereignty over local lands and resources. By designing and implementing the monitoring program, Samson seeks to manage the risks associated with the spread of CWD and by so doing increase confidence of local members in the health of

country/traditional food. We posit that by doing this work, Samson Cree Nation is also confronting the significant inequities that exist in wildlife management in the province of Alberta, rooted in two centuries of colonization and creating new opportunities for the coproduction or braiding of Indigenous knowledge and other knowledges (e.g., prion science) that are needed to manage the spread of CWD. Given concerns about wildlife disease and human-wildlife health questions have grow as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, greater opportunities for community-based monitoring are urgently needed both in Canada and globally.

The building of capacity for communities to assess their own local concerns and issues is one way that community-based monitoring programs can fill the gaps left by existing government or expert-led monitoring programs that may be insufficient due to the lack of funding for environmental monitoring and existing programs' inability to deal with the increasing complexity of modern environmental problems (Conrad & Hilchey 2011). These insufficiencies are evident in the case of Chronic Wasting Disease in Alberta. In 2012, a program review report of the provincial CWD monitoring program states the program was facing challenges that included Chronic Wasting Disease not being viewed as a "budget line item" (Pybus 2012 pg. 5), and that seeking funding to assist in the control of the disease was difficult to find, and that it was unlikely to improve in the future (Pybus 2012). Budget documents released by the Government of Alberta in 2019 and 2020 showing funding estimates and targets for the Chronic Wasting Disease Monitoring and Management until 2023 show stagnant or decreasing levels of funding (Government of Alberta 2019b; Government of Alberta 2020e). When government
agencies and professional programs lack the resources to collect the data and facilitate the communication between affected groups that is needed to make management decisions about issues such as wildlife disease, CBM programs have become an alternative that allow for cooperative learning and a more robust and inclusive approach to wildlife management through the collection of conventional biological data as well as the inclusion of knowledge systems such as traditional knowledge (Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada 2017; Berkes 2004; Conrad & Hilchey 2011; Pattengil-Semmens & Semmens 2003).

However, despite the potential of CBM programs, they are often not used in their full capacity by most government or scientific agencies (Sharpe & Conrad 2006). If decision-makers do not have the intention of linking CBM programs to the decision-making processes instead of simply using them for data collection, then many of the benefits of collaboration between stakeholders and capacity-building within the community may not be realized (Conrad and Hilchey 2011; Sharpe & Conrad 2006). In programs that involve Indigenous communities and government or scientific agencies, it is imperetive that the inclusion of Indigenous peoples in environmental monitoring does not end after the sharing of knowledge. First Nations should be consulted from the initiation of the project on project direction, or on how to adapt an existing program or develop new alternative programming to best meet their needs (Wilson et al. 2018). As with our work with Samson Cree Nation, the monitoring of a community's local environment and the wildlife within it can provide a way of asserting Indigenous sovereignty and juristiction over traditional rights (Wilson et al. 2018). Ensuring that community perspectives and

100

concerns are rooted in the development of the monitoring program and facilitating communication between existing management agencies and communities can move CBM beyond the act of data collection and into working to influence decision-making in a way that benefits the communities (Whitelaw et al. 2003).

4.6 Conclusion

This research examined Using community-based programs for the monitoring of wildlife disease has the potential to benefit all involved if developed and executed in a participatory manner. The proposed community-based monitoring effort may be considered more meaningful and by extension become more sustainable than other kinds of monitoring that do not consider and respect these socio-political and cultural aspects of the work. The monitoring program is also unique from conventional kinds of CWD surveillance in the province of Alberta in its recognition of Indigenous peoples as experts with valuable insights about the wildlife disease and the broader social and ecological drivers of its spread within their traditional territories. Although there are challenges to developing and maintaining successful CBM programs, such as barriers to accessing testing equipment, lack of funding, and decision-maker's lack of percieved utility of the community-collected data, recommendations of best practices on how to overcome challenges have been discussed by researchers, often through the sharing and comparision of case studies and their challenges and successes (Conrad & Hilchey 2011). The documentation and sharing of the development of new CBM programs such as the CWD monitoring program in Maskwacîs is important to provide a framework for future CBM programs and to provide a geographic and socio-ecological context specific example of the creation of this kind of monitoring program (Kouril et al. 2015; Conrad &

101

Hilchey 2011). Given the growing interest in community-based monitoring by Indigenous peoples and the gap in examples of programs that focus on issues of wildlife disease these design principles may be useful to other organizations as well as those interested in supporting the weaving of Indigenous knowledge and science in addressing growing concerns about wildlife disease globally.

CHAPTER 5.0: Conclusion

5.1 Thesis Overview

This study was a continuation of Dr. Brenda Parlee's work with First Nations in northern Alberta to track both observations of wildlife health as well as knowledge about CWD and local perceptions of risk about the disease. Extending this work into Treaty 6 Territory, where CWD is a current threat, allowed this research to investigate issues around risk perception, issues of resource access, and issues of knowledge and power in Maskwacîs, Alberta. Through the documentation of building relationships with community members and organizations, creating community-oriented information products about CWD, and facilitating sample submissions and communications with the Government of Alberta CWD monitoring program, a "how-to" for the development of a community-based CWD monitoring program were formed. The "how-to" provides suggestions on how to approach the large task of creating a community-based monitoring program through addressing the knowledge and cultural gaps in the current governmentled program, as a gap in the current literature exists for how to approach this task in the context of CWD's impacts on Indigenous communities in Alberta. The surveys completed with 31 hunters and land users suggest that people in Maskwacîs, who harvest, share, and consume wild deer, moose, and elk meat, are concerned about CWD. When the threat of CWD is considered along with the pre-existing barriers to hunting through loss of access to physical land, there is concern about the future of traditional food consumption and the activity of hunting, which both play an important role in personal and cultural wellbeing.

The separate papers in Chapters Three and Four could be presented as the first identifying the issues at hand, and the second presenting a possible solution. Chapter Three provides a geographically and contextually-specific picture of issues of access to traditional foods that Indigenous communities in central Alberta face, and provides insight into how the threat of CWD to local wildlife populations and the perceptions of risk about CWD create additional access barriers. Knowledge gaps, cultural gaps, and power imbalance between western and Indigenous knowledge systems result in management decisions being made that do not reflect the views and risk perceptions of all communities impacted by an issue such as CWD (Schuler et al. 2016). To address these barriers, Chapter Four presents a set of best practices for the development of a community-based monitoring program for CWD in central Alberta that were developed in an attempt to improve opportunities for participation in resource management, create space for multiple knowledge systems in management processes and decision-making, and provide an opportunity to create constructive relationships between Indigenous communities and government management programs.

5.2 Study Significance and Future Research

The findings of this research indicate that the capacity and interest to engage in community-based monitoring of CWD is present in Maskwacîs, and that work must be done to improve the accessibility of current CWD management in order to adhere to Treaty rights, and to care for one another as Treaty people. My hopes for this research is that the involved communities, such as Samson Cree Nation, can use the findings of this thesis to supplement any arguments for the inclusion of Indigenous communities in the monitoring and management of species that are important to both their diets and culture. There are many questions that were raised during the construction of this thesis that could be avenues for future research. Indigenous hunters in central Alberta are interested in participating in CWD monitoring and management, and more in-depth research on the current Alberta CWD Monitoring Program and the experiences that Indigenous hunters in Alberta have had with this project could provide more concrete suggestions on how this program could be made more inclusive and accessible. Additionally, expanding this research on risk perception into southeast Alberta where the prevalence of CWD in the cervid populations is much higher would complete a broader picture about Indigenous hunter perceptions about the disease in Alberta when paired with work by Parlee et al. (2021).

REFERENCES

Addison, J., Stoeckl, N., Larson, S., Jarvis, D., Bidan Aboriginal Corporation, Bunuba Dawangarri Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC, Ewamian Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC, Gooniyandi Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC, Yanunijarra Ngurrara Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC, & Esparon, M. (2019). The ability of community based natural resource management to contribute to development as freedom and the role of access. *World Development*, *120*, 91–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.04.004</u>

Agrawal, A. (1995). Dismantling the divide between indigenous and scientific knowledge. *Development and Change* 26: 413-439.

Akena, F. A. (2012). Critical analysis of the production of western knowledge and its implications for Indigenous knowledge and decolonization. *Journal of Black Studies*, *43*(6), 599-619.

Alberta Wilderness Association. (n.d.). *Parkland Natural Region*. https://albertawilderness.ca/issues/wildlands/parkland/

Alcorn, J. B. (1993). Indigenous Peoples and Conservation. Conservation Biology, 7(2), 424–426.

Amik, K., Clark, D., & Brook, R. K. (2015). Stakeholder perspectives on Chronic Wasting Disease risk and management on the Canadian prairies. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, *5*, 408-424.

Armitage, D. R., Plummer, R., Berkes, F., Arthur, R. I., Charles, A. T., Davidson-Hunt, I. J., Diduck, A. P., Doubleday, N. C., Johnson, D. S., Marschke, M., McConney, P., Pinkerton, E. W., & Wollenberg, E. K. (2009). Adaptive co-management for social– ecological complexity. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 7(2), 95–102. https://doi.org/10.1890/070089

Artois, M., Bengis, R., Delahay, R. J., Duchêne, M., Duff, J. P., Ferroglio, E., Gortazar,
C., Hutchings, M. R., Kock, R. A., Leighton, F. A., Mörner, T., & Smith, G. C. (2009).
Wildlife Disease Surveillance and Monitoring. In: Delahay R. J., Smith G. C., Hutchings
M. R. (eds) *Management of Disease in Wild Mammals*. Springer, Tokyo.

Ball, J., & Janyst, P. (2008). Enacting Research Ethics in Partnerships with Indigenous Communities in Canada: "Do it in a Good Way." *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 3(2), 33–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/jer.2008.3.2.33</u>

Bateson, Gregory. *Mind and Nature: A Necessary Unity*. New York: Bantam Books, 1979.

Battiste, M. (2005). You can't be the global doctor if you're the colonial disease. In Muzzin, L. J. & Tripp, P. (Eds.), *Teaching as activism: Equity meets environmentalism* (pp. 121–133). McGill-Queen's Press.

Beck, U. (1992). From industrial society to the risk society: Questions of survival, social structure and ecological enlightenment. *Theory, culture & society*, 9(1), 97-123.

Belay, E. D., Maddox, R. A., Williams, E. S., Miller, M. W., Gambetti, P., & Schonberger, L. B. (2004). Chronic Wasting Disease and Potential Transmission to Humans. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *10*(6), 977–984. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1006.031082

Berger-Tal, O., & Lahoz-Monfort, J. J. (2018). Conservation technology: The next generation. *Conservation Letters*, 11(6), e12458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12458</u>

Berkes, F. (1998). Indigenous knowledge and Resource Management Systems in the Canadian Subarctic. In Berkes, F., Folke, C., & Colding, J. (Eds.), *Linking social and ecological systems: Management practices and social mechanisms for building resilience* (98–128). Cambridge Press.

Berkes, F. (1999). *Sacred Ecology. Traditional Ecological Knowledge and Resource Management*. Philadelphia and London: Taylor and Francis.

Berkes, F. (2004). Rethinking Community-Based Conservation. Conservation Biology, 18(3), 621–630. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2004.00077.x</u>

Berkes, F. (2012). Sacred Ecology (3rd ed.). Routledge.

Berkes, F. (2017). Environmental governance for the Anthropocene? Social-ecological systems, resilience, and collaborative learning. *Sustainability*, *9*(7), 1232.

Berkes, F. & Berkes, M. K. (2009). Ecological complexity, fuzzy logic, and holism in indigenous knowledge. *Futures*, *41*, 6-12.

Berkes, F., & Turner, N. J. (2006). Knowledge, Learning and the Evolution of Conservation Practice for Social-Ecological System Resilience. Human Ecology, 34(4), 479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745-006-9008-2</u>

Bickerstaff, K. (2004). Risk perception research: Socio-cultural perspectives on the public experience of air pollution. *Environment International*, *30*(6), 827–840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2003.12.001

Bliss, J., Aplet, G., Hartzell, C., Harwood, P., Jahnige, P., Kittredge, D., Lewandowski, S., & Soscia, M. L. (2001). Community-Based Ecosystem Monitoring. Journal of Sustainable Forestry, 12(3–4), 143–167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J091v12n03_07</u>

Bohensky, E. L. & Maru, Y. (2011). Indigenous knowledge, science, and resilience: what have we learned from a decade of international literature on "integration"? *Ecology and Society*, *16*(4), 6

Brant Castellano, M., & Reading, J. (2010). Policy Writing as Dialogue: Drafting an Aboriginal Chapter for Canada's Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans. *The International Indigenous Policy Journal*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.18584/iipj.2010.1.2.1

Brook, R. K., Kutz, S. J., Veitch, A. M., Popko, R. A., Elkin, B. T., & Guthrie, G. (2009). Fostering Community-Based Wildlife Health Monitoring and Research in the Canadian North. *EcoHealth*, *6*(2), 266–278. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-009-0256-7</u>

Brook, R. K., & McLachlan, S. M. (2008). Trends and prospects for local knowledge in ecological and conservation research and monitoring. Biodiversity and Conservation, 17(14), 3501–3512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-008-9445-x</u>

Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA). (2019). *Reportable diseases: Terrestrial Animals*. https://www.inspection.gc.ca/animal-health/terrestrial-animals/diseases/reportable/eng/1303768471142/1303768544412

Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA). (2020a). *Chronic wasting disease: what you need to know*. https://inspection.canada.ca/animal-health/terrestrial-animals/diseases/reportable/cwd/what-you-need-to-know/eng/1601394766613/1601394766972

Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA). (2020b). *Chronic wasting disease: what cervid producers should know*. https://inspection.canada.ca/animal-health/terrestrial-animals/diseases/reportable/cwd/what-cervid-producers-should-know/eng/1330189947852/1330190096558

Castleden, H., Morgan, V. S., & Lamb, C. (2012). "I spent the first year drinking tea": Exploring Canadian university researchers' perspectives on community-based participatory research involving Indigenous peoples. *The Canadian Geographer / Le Géographe Canadien*, *56*(2), 160–179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0064.2012.00432.x</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2021). *Chronic Wasting Disease* (*CWD*) - Occurance. https://www.cdc.gov/prions/cwd/occurrence.html

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (n.d.). *Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD)*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/prions/cwd/index.html</u>

Christie, K. S., Hollmen, T. E., Huntington, H. P., & Lovvorn, J. R. (2018). Structured decision analysis informed by traditional ecological knowledge as a tool to strengthen subsistence systems in a changing Arctic. *Ecology and Society*, *23*(4). JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/26796896 Chronic Wasting Disease Alliance. (n.d.). *CWD: The Basics*. http://cwd-info.org/cwd-the-basics/

Collins, T. W. (2010). Marginalization, Facilitation, and the Production of Unequal Risk: The 2006 Paso del Norte Floods. *Antipode*, *42*(2), 258–288. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8330.2009.00755.x

Committee on World Food Security. (2021). *Global Strategic Framework for Food Security and Nutrition (GSF)*. http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/cfs/Docs2021/GSF/NF445_CFS_GSF_2021_Cle an_en.pdf

Communities Choosewell. (n.d.). *Hunting for Healing*. https://communitieschoosewell.ca/story/hunting-for-healing/

Conrad, C. C., & Hilchey, K. G. (2011). A review of citizen science and communitybased environmental monitoring: Issues and opportunities. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 176(1), 273–291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-010-1582-5</u> Cpa-fsu-cwd_what_you_need_to_know_1601565825894_eng.pdf. (n.d.). Retrieved December 14, 2020, from <u>https://www.inspection.gc.ca/DAM/DAM-animalsanimaux/STAGING/text-texte/cpa-fsu-</u> cwd_what_you_need_to_know_1601565825894_eng.pdf

Council on Aboriginal Initiatives. (2012). *Elder Protocol and Guidelines*. University of Alberta. https://www.ualberta.ca/public-health/media-library/elder-protocol.pdf

County of Wetaskiwin. (n.d.). *About the County*. https://www.county.wetaskiwin.ab.ca/148/About-the-County

Cousins, B. (1997). How Do Rights Become Real?: Formal and Informal Institutions in South Africa's Land Reform. *IDS Bulletin*, 28(4), 59–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1759-5436.1997.mp28004007.x</u>

Cross, F. B. (1998). Facts and values in risk assessment. *Reliability Engineering & System Safety*, 59(1), 27-40.

Crown-Indigenous Relations and Northern Affairs Canada. (2020). *Treaties and Agreements*. https://www.rcaanc-cirnac.gc.ca/eng/1100100028574/1529354437231

Cumming, G. S. & Allen, C. R. (2017). Protected areas as social-ecological systems: perspectives from resilience and social-ecological theory. *Ecological Applications*, 27(6), 1709-1717.

Danielsen, F., Burgess, N. D., Balmford, A., Donald, P. F., Funder, M., Jones, J. P. G., Alviola, P., Balete, D. S., Blomley, T., Brashares, J., Child, B., Enghoff, M., Fjeldså, J.,

Holt, S., Hübertz, H., Jensen, A. E., Jensen, P. M., Massao, J., Mendoza, M. M., ... Yonten, D. (2009). Local Participation in Natural Resource Monitoring: A Characterization of Approaches. Conservation Biology, 23(1), 31–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2008.01063.x</u>

Danielsen, F., Jensen, P.M., Burgess, N.D., Altamirano, R., Alviola, P.A., Andrianandrasana, H., Brashares, J.S., Burton, A.C., Coronado, I., Corpuz, N., Enghoff, M., Fjeldså, J., Funder, M., Holt, S., Hübertz, H., Jensen, A.E., Lewis, R., Massao, J., Mendoza, M.M., Ngaga, Y., Pipper, C.B., Poulsen, M.K., Rueda, R.M., Sam, M.K., Skielboe, T., Sørensen, M., Young, R. (2014). A multicountry assessment of tropical resource monitoring by local communities. *BioScience 64*, 236e251. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biu001.

Dawson, L. (2020). "Food Will Be What Brings People Together": Constructing Counter-Narratives from the Perspective of Indigenous Foodways. In Settee, P. & Shukla, S. (Eds.), *Indigenous Food Systems: Concepts, Cases, and Conversations*. (pp. 83-97). Canadian Scholars.

De Gré, G. (1941). The Sociology of Knowledge and the Problem of Truth. *Journal of the History of Ideas*, 2(1), 110–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2707284</u>

Decker, D. J., Wild, M. A., Riley, S. J., Siemer, W. F., Miller, M. M., Leong, K. M., Powers, J. G., & Rhyan, J. C. (2006). Wildlife Disease Management: A Manager's Model. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, *11*(3), 151–158. https://doi.org/10.1080/10871200600669908

Decker, D.J., Siemer, W. F., Evensen, D. T. N., Stedman, R. C., McComas, K. A., Wild, M. A., Castle, K. T., & Leong, K. M. (2012). Public perceptions of wildlife-associated disease: risk communication matters. *Human-Wildlife Interactions*, 6(1) 112-122.

Dietitians of Canada. (2012). Registered Dietitians in Aboriginal Communities: Feeding Mind, Body, and Spirit, Role Paper of the Dietitians of Canada Aboriginal Nutrition Network. Accessed [August 26 2019] <u>http://www.wabano.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Dietitians-in-Aboriginal-Communities.pdf</u>

Dowie, M. (2011). *Conservation refugees: The Hundred-year Conflict between Global Conservation and Native Peoples.* MIT Press.

Doxtater, M. G. (2004). Indigenous knowledge in the decolonial era. *American Indian Quarterly*, 28(3/4) Special Issue: The Recovery of Indigenous Knowledge, 618-633

Dudgeon, R. C. & Berkes, F. (2003). "Local Understandings of the Land: Traditional Ecological Knowledge and Indigenous Knowledge" in *Nature Across Cultures: Views of Nature and the Environment in Non-Western Cultures* ed. Selin, H. pp. 75-96. Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Duffy, R., Massé, F., Smidt, E., Marijnen, E., Büscher, B., Verweijen, J., Ramutsindela, M., Simlai, T., Joanny, L., & Lunstrum, E. (2019). Why we must question the militarisation of conservation. Biological Conservation, 232, 66–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.01.013

EMAN (Ecological Monitoring and Assessment Network) & CNF (Canadian Nature Federation). (2002). *Improving Local Decision-Making Through Community Based Monitoring: Toward a Canadian Community Monitoring Network.*

Fabisiak, J. P. (2020). Perspectives on Individual and Community Risk in Lippmann, M. and Leikauf, G. D. (eds). *Environmental Toxicants: Human Exposures and Their Health Effects 4th ed.* Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons Inc.

Fida, K. (2021). *Community freezer program provides meat, lessons for Samson Cree Nation.* CBC. https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/edmonton/community-freezer-programprovides-meat-lessons-for-samson-cree-nation-1.6066737

First Nations Food, Nutrition, and Environment Study (FNFNES). (2019). *Summary of Key Findings for eight Assembly of First Nations regions 2008-2018*. http://www.fnfnes.ca/docs/FNFNES_Report_Summary_2020-05-27_FINAL.pdf

Fletcher, C. (2003). COMMUNITY-BASED PARTICIPATORY RESEARCH RELATIONSHIPS WITH ABORIGINAL COMMUNITIES IN CANADA: AN OVERVIEW OF CONTEXT AND PROCESS. *Pimatziwin: A Journal of Aboriginal and Indigenous Community Health 1*(1), 28-62.

Foddai, A., Lindberg, A., Lubroth, J., Ellis-Iversen, J. (2020). Surveillance to improve evidence for community control decisions during the COVID-19 pandemic - Opening the animal epidemic toolbox for Public Health. *One Health*, *9*, 100130

Folke, C. (2006). Resilience: The emergence of a perspective for social-ecological systems analyses. *Global Environmental Change*, *16*(3), 253-267.

Folke, C., Biggs, R., Norström, A. V., Reyers, B., & Rockström, J. (2016). Socialecological resilience and biosphere-based sustainability science. *Ecology and Society*, 21(3), 41.

Folke, C., Hahn, T., Olsson, P., & Norberg, J. (2005). Adaptive governance of socialecological systems. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 30*, 441-473. Freudenburg, W. R. (2005). Privilege Access, Privileged Accounts: Toward a Socially Structured Theory of Resources and Discourses. *Social Forces, 84*(1), 89–114.

Furgal C. M., Powell S., & Myers H. (2005). Digesting the Message about Contaminants and Country Foods in the Canadian North: A Review and Recommendations for Future Research and Action. *Arctic*, *58*(2), 103–114.

Furgal, C. M., Garvin, T. D., & Jardine, C. G. (2010). Trends in the study of Aboriginal health risks in Canada. *Circumpolar Health Supplements*, *7*, 322–332.

Gillin, C. M. & Fischer, J. R. (2018). State management of wildlife disease. In Koprowski, J. L. & Krausman, P. R. (Eds.), *International Wildlife Management: Conservation Challenges in a Changing World* (pp. 176-193). JHU Press.

Government of Alberta. (2016). *Hunting by Treaty Indians in Alberta Rights & Responsibilities*. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/b2eeb0aa-3250-496b-bc1f-0910a150a1e5/resource/e743ce3e-09c9-480b-aa88-483ea9148371/download/huntingbytreatyindians-oct25-2016.pdf

Government of Alberta. (2019a). 2019 Deer Hunters Assist Us With Our CWD Surveillance. <u>https://www.alberta.ca/assets/documents/ep-cwd-freezer-locations-map-2019.pdf</u>

Government of Alberta. (2019b). 2019-23 Capital Plan Details by Ministry. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/3c46f857-aa60-430f-ba52-f9ec96fc8ccf/resource/befbac6fe1b3-4a09-83a0-fb7c1efa6253/download/budget-2019-capital-plan-details-by-ministry-2019-23.pdf

Government of Alberta. (2021). *Chronic Wasting Disease in Wild Cervids - Alberta 2020 Surveillance Season (FINAL)*. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/bcd68440-74fc-47ce-a4b1f9ef1859b2bc/resource/cd25c7f2-7cba-4c9b-ac6c-84c211a489e2/download/aep-cwdwild-cervids-alberta-2020-surveillance-season-map.pdf

Government of Alberta. (2021b). *Chronic Wasting Disease in Alberta - By Wildlife Management Unit 2005-2020*. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/55a4c423-ceff-40a5-8e8a-6cd01c37379f/resource/alecb8e8-62b7-4f95-alb2-3c8a0a5e9938/download/aep-chronic-wasting-disease-in-alberta-by-wildlife-management-unit-2005-2020.pdf

Government of Alberta. (2020a). *Chronic Wasting Disease in Wild Cervids - Alberta:* 2020 Surveillance Season (FINAL). https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/bcd68440-74fc-47ce-a4b1-f9ef1859b2bc/resource/cd25c7f2-7cba-4c9b-ac6c-84c211a489e2/download/aep-cwd-wild-cervids-alberta-2020-surveillance-season-map.pdf

Government of Alberta. (2020b). Chronic Wasting Disease in Alberta - Prevalence (% infected) of CWD in male mule deer, 2010 and 2019. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/53372883-c4af-4c84-9840de5d6e041897/resource/8dde51fa-a723-4175-96fd-2f8093561260/download/aepchronic-wasting-disease-in-alberta-prevalence-percentage-infected-of-cwd-in-male-muledeer-2.pdf

Government of Alberta. (2020c). *Chronic Wasting Disease (CWD) Freezer locations* 2020 map. https://www.alberta.ca/assets/documents/aep-cwd-freezer-location-list.pdf

Government of Alberta. (2020d). *Chronic Wasting Disease in Alberta - Year of first detection in a Wildlife Management Unit (WMU)*. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/0222902e-9704-4fe5-b534-

Government of Alberta. (2020e). 2020-23 Capital Plan Details by Ministry - released February 27, 2020. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/3c46f857-aa60-430f-ba52f9ec96fc8ccf/resource/63c3929f-0ed2-463b-902a-24aa7271f3e3/download/budget-2020capital-plan-details-by-ministry-2020-23.pdf

Government of Alberta (n.d.). *Chronic Wasting Disease - Information for hunters*. https://www.alberta.ca/chronic-wasting-disease-information-forhunters.aspx#:~:text=All%20CWD%20laboratory%20testing%20in,about%20results%20 on%20their%20deer.

Government of Alberta, (n.d.1). *Chronic Wasting Disease - Updates* https://www.alberta.ca/chronic-wasting-disease-updates.aspx

Government of Alberta. (n.d.2). *Chronic Wasting Disease - History in Alberta*. https://www.alberta.ca/chronic-wasting-disease-history-in-alberta.aspx

Government of Alberta. (n.d.3). *Chronic Wasting Disease - Surveillance and response*. https://www.alberta.ca/chronic-wasting-disease-surveillance-and-response.aspx

Government of Alberta. (n.d.4). *Chronic Wasting Disease - Public health*. https://www.alberta.ca/chronic-wasting-disease-public-health.aspx

Government of Saskatchewan, (n.d.). *Chronic Wasting Disease - taking action and testing*. https://www.saskatchewan.ca/business/agriculture-natural-resources-and-industry/agribusiness-farmers-and-ranchers/livestock/animal-health-and-welfare/chronic-wasting-disease/managing-chronic-wasting-disease-taking-action-and-testing

Haus, J. M., Eyler, T. B., Duda, M. D., & Bowman, J. L. (2017). Hunter Perceptions Toward Chronic Wasting Disease: Implications for Harvest and Management. *Wildlife Society Bulletin (2011-), 41*(2), 294–300.

Heath, R. L., Bradshaw, J., & Lee, J. (2002). Community Relationship Building: Local Leadership in the Risk Communication Infrastructure. *Journal of Public Relations Research*, *14*(4), 317–353. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532754XJPRR1404_2</u>

Heberlein, T. A., & Stedman, R. C. (2009). Socially Amplified Risk: Attitude and Behavior Change in Response to CWD in Wisconsin Deer. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, *14*(5), 326–340. https://doi.org/10.1080/10871200903115435

Held, M. B. E. (2019). Decolonizing Research Paradigms in the Context of Settler Colonialism: An Unsettling, Mutual, and Collaborative Effort. *International Journal of* *Qualitative Methods*, *18*, 1609406918821574. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918821574

Henri, D. A., Jean-Gagnon, F., & Gilchrist, H. G. (2018). Using Inuit traditional ecological knowledge for detecting and monitoring avian cholera among Common Eiders in the eastern Canadian Arctic. *Ecology and Society*, *23*(1). JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/26799046

Holling, C. S., Berkes, F., & Folke. C. (1998). "Science, sustainability and resource management" in *Linking Social and Ecological Systems: Management Practices and Social Mechanisms for Building Resilience*, F. Berkes and C. Folke, eds. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. pp. 342-362.

Houde, N. (2007). The Six Faces of Traditional Ecological Knowledge: Challenges and Opportunities for Canadian Co-Management Arrangements. *Ecology and Society*, *12*(2). JSTOR. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26267900</u>

Howitt, R. (2001). *Rethinking resource management: justice, sustainability and Indigenous peoples*. Psychology Press.

Huntington, H. (2008). *Strategy for Facilitating and Developing Community-based Monitoring: Approaches in Arctic Biodiversity Monitoring*. Conservation of Arctic Flora and Fauna & Circumpolar Biodiversity Monitoring Program. https://oaarchive.arcticcouncil.org/bitstream/handle/11374/192/Community_Based_Montioring_Strategy_Marc h 2008.pdf?sequence=1

Indigenous Guardians Program. (2020). *Indigenous Guardians Pilot Program Map*. https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/environmental-funding/indigenous-guardians-pilot/map.html

Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada. (2017). *Statistics Canada - Registered Indian Population by Sex and Residence 2016*. https://www.aadncaandc.gc.ca/eng/1523286391452/1523286414623

Indigenous Services Canada. (2019). *Chronic Wasting Disease and traditional foods*. https://www.sac-isc.gc.ca/eng/1571687660394/1571687748442

Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES). (2019a). Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. E. S. Brondizio, J. Settele, S. Díaz, and H. T. Ngo (Eds.). IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany.

Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services (IPBES). (2019b). Summary for policymakers of the global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem services of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on

Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. S. Díaz, J. Settele, E. S. Brondízio E.S., H. T. Ngo, M. Guèze, J. Agard, A. Arneth, P. Balvanera, K. A. Brauman, S. H. M. Butchart, K. M. A. Chan, L. A. Garibaldi, K. Ichii, J. Liu, S. M. Subramanian, G. F. Midgley, P. Miloslavich, Z. Molnár, D. Obura, A. Pfaff, S. Polasky, A. Purvis, J. Razzaque, B. Reyers, R. Roy Chowdhury, Y. J. Shin, I. J. Visseren-Hamakers, K. J. Willis, and C. N. Zayas (Eds.). IPBES secretariat, Bonn, Germany. 56 pages.
https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3553579
Johnson P. 2017. E-kawôtiniket 1876: Reclaiming Nêhiyaw Governance in the Territory of Maskwacîs through Wâhkôtowin (Kinship). Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. University of Western Ontario, London. Available from

https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/4492.

Johnson, P. (2017). E-kawôtiniket 1876: Reclaiming Nêhiyaw Governance in the Territory of Maskwacîs through Wâhkôtowin (Kinship). Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. <u>https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/4492</u>

Kahn, S., Dubé, C., Bates, L., & Balachandran, A. (2004). Chronic wasting disease in Canada: Part 1. *Canadian Veterinary Journal*, 45(12), 397–404.

Kamal, A. G., Linklater, R., Thompson, S., Dipple, J., & Committee, I. M. (2015). A Recipe for Change: Reclamation of Indigenous Food Sovereignty in O-Pipon-Na-Piwin Cree Nation for Decolonization, Resource Sharing, and Cultural Restoration. *Globalizations*, *12*(4), 559–575. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14747731.2015.1039761</u>

Kasperson, R. E., Renn, O., Slovic, P., Brown, H. S., Emel, J., Goble, R., Kasperson, J. X., & Ratick, S. (1988). The Social Amplification of Risk: A Conceptual Framework. *Risk Analysis*, 8(2), 177–187. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1539-6924.1988.tb01168.x</u>

Kates, R. W., Clark. W. C., Corell, R., et al. (2001). Sustainability science. *Science* 292: 641-642.

Kofinas, G., Lyver, P., Russell, D., White, R., Nelson, A., & Flanders, N. (2003). Towards a protocol for community monitoring of caribou body condition. Rangifer, 43– 52. <u>https://doi.org/10.7557/2.23.5.1678</u>

Kojola, E. (2019). Indigeneity, gender and class in decision-making about risks from resource extraction. *Environmental Sociology*, *5*(2), 130–148. https://doi.org/10.1080/23251042.2018.1426090

Kouril, D., Furgal, C., & Whillans, T. (2015). Trends and key elements in communitybased monitoring: A systematic review of the literature with an emphasis on Arctic and Subarctic regions. Environmental Reviews. <u>https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2015-0041</u>

Kutz, S., & Tomaselli, M. (2019). "Two-eyed seeing" supports wildlife health. *Science*, *364*(6446), 1135–1137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aau6170</u>

LaRiviere, C. M., & Crawford, S. S. (2013). Indigenous Principles of Wild Harvest and Management: An Ojibway Community as a Case Study. Human Ecology, 41(6), 947–960. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745-013-9568-x</u>

La Via Campesina. (2021). Twenty five years of envisioning food security - celebrating diversity resilience and transforming the society. https://viacampesina.org/en/twenty-five-years-of-envisioning-food-sovereignty-celebrating-diversity-resilience-and-transforming-the-society/

Leiss, W., Westphal, M., Tyshenko, M. G., Croteau, M. C., Oraby, T., Adamowicz, W., Goddard, E., Cashman, N. R., Darshan, S., & Krewski, D. (2017). Challenges in managing the risks of chronic wasting disease. *International Journal of Global Environmental Issues*, *16*(4), 277. <u>https://doi.org/10.1504/IJGENVI.2017.086716</u>

Lunstrum, E. (2015). Conservation Meets Militarisation in Kruger National Park: Historical Encounters and Complex Legacies. Conservation and Society, 13(4), 356–369.

Lyver, P. O'B. (2002). Use of Traditional Knowledge by Rakiura Maori to Guide Sooty Shearwater Harvests. Wildlife Society Bulletin (1973-2006), 30(1), 29–40.

Lyver, P. O'B., & Nation, Ł. K. D. F. (2005). Monitoring Barren-Ground Caribou Body Condition with Denésoliné Traditional Knowledge. Arctic, 58(1), 44–54.

MacPherson, C.B. 1978. *Property: Mainstream and Critical Positions*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press.

Martens, T. (2015). Understanding the value and promise of Indigenous food sovereignty in western Canada. 120. Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository. University of Manitoba, Winnipeg.

https://mspace.lib.umanitoba.ca/bitstream/handle/1993/30825/Tabitha%20Thesis%20Fin al_Sept17_no%20personal.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

Mayer, A., Shelley, T. O., Chiricos, T., & Gertz, M. (2017). Environmental Risk Exposure, Risk Perception, Political Ideology and Support for Climate Policy. *Sociological Focus*, *50*(4), 309–328. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00380237.2017.1312855</u>

McAdam, S. (2019). *Nationhood interrupted: Revitalizing Néhiyaw legal systems*. Purich Publishing.

Messmer, T. A. (2020). Humans, Wildlife, and Our Environment: One Health is the Common Link. *Human-Wildlife Interactions*, 14(1), 137-140.

Miller, C. A. (2004). Deer hunter participation and Chronic Wasting Disease in Illinois: An assessment at time zero. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, *9*, 237-239.

Millman, C., Rigby, D., & Jones, D. L. (2020). Investigating heterogeneity in food risk perceptions using best-worst scaling. *Journal of Risk Research*, 0(0), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2020.1848902

Moller, H., Berkes, F., Lyver, P. O., & Kislalioglu, M. (2004). Combining Science and Traditional Ecological Knowledge: Monitoring Populations for Co-Management. Ecology and Society, 9(3). <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/26267682</u>

Mörner, T., Obendorf, D. L., & Woodford, M. H. (2002). Surveillance and monitoring of wildlife diseases. *Scientific and Technical Review of the Office International des Epizooties*, 21(1), 67-76.

Morphy, F. (2016). Indigenising demographic categories: a prolegomenon to indigenous data sovereignty in Kukutai, T. and Taylor, J. (eds). *Indigenous Data Sovereignty: Toward an Agenda*. Canberra: Australian National University Press.

Muringai, V., & Goddard, E. (2018). Trust and consumer risk perceptions regarding BSE and chronic wasting disease. *Agribusiness*, *34*(2), 240–265. https://doi.org/10.1002/agr.21524

Murove, M. F. (2018). Indigenous Knowledge Systems Discourse and Inclusionality: An Afro-centric Quest for Recognition in a Globalised World. *Journal for the Study of Religion*, *31*(1), 159–176.

MyHealth Alberta. (2018). *Chronic Wasting Disease Overview*. https://myhealth.alberta.ca/Alberta/Pages/Chronic-Wasting-Disease-Overview.aspx#:~:text=CWD%20occurs%20in%20some%20parts,%2C%20Norway%2 C%20and%20South%20Korea.

Nadasdy, P. (1999). The Politics of TEK: Power and the "Integration" of Knowledge. Arctic Anthropology, 36(1/2), 1-18.

Natcher, D. C. (2000). Constructing change: The evolution of land and resource management in Alberta, Canada. *International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology*, 7(4), 363–374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504500009470055</u>

Natcher, D. C. (2015). Social Capital and the Vulnerability of Aboriginal Food Systems in Canada. *Human Organization*, 74(3), 230–242.

Natcher, D. C. (2019). Subsistence, regional planning and the cultural carrying capacity of First Nations in Alberta, Canada. *Hunter Gatherer Research*, *3*(4), 717–736. <u>https://doi.org/10.3828/hgr.2017.36</u>

Natcher, D., Ingram, S., Bogdan, A., & Rice, A. (2021). Conservation and Indigenous subsistence hunting in the Peace River Region of Canada. *Human Ecology*, 49, 109-120.

National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke. (2018). *Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease Fact Sheet*. https://www.ninds.nih.gov/Disorders/Patient-Caregiver-Education/Fact-Sheets/Creutzfeldt-Jakob-Disease-Fact-Sheet

Needham, M. D., & Vaske, J. J. (2008). Hunter Perceptions of Similarity and Trust in Wildlife Agencies and Personal Risk Associated with Chronic Wasting Disease. *Society & Natural Resources*, 21(3), 197–214. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920701816336

Nelson, M., Natcher, D. C., & Hickey, C. G. (2005). Social and Economic Barriers to Subsistence Harvesting in a Northern Alberta Aboriginal Community. *Anthropologica*, *47*(2), 289–301. JSTOR.

Nikolopoulos, H., Farmer, A., Fehderau, D. D., Campiou, J, & Willows, N. (2020). Learnings from a Food Security Action Group in Alexander First Nation, in *Indigenous Food Systems: Concepts, Cases, and Conversations,* Settee, P. & Shukla, S. (eds). Toronto: Canadian Scholars.

One Health Initiative. (n.d.). About. https://onehealthinitiative.com/about/

Nusser, S. M., Clark, W. R., Otis, D. L., and Huang, L. (2008). Sampling considerations for disease surveillance in wildlife populations. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 72(1), 52-60.

Nyhus, P. J. (2016). Human–Wildlife Conflict and Coexistence. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 41(1), 143–171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-110615-085634</u>

O'Faircheallaigh, C. (2007). Environmental agreements, EIA follow-up and aboriginal participation in environmental management: The Canadian experience. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 27(4), 319-342.

One Health Initiative. (n.d.). About. https://onehealthinitiative.com/about/

Ostrom, E. (2009). A general framework for analyzing sustainability of social-ecological systems. *Science*, *325*, 419-422.

Parlee, B. (2017). Recounting Caribou. in Parlee B. & Caine K. (Eds.) *When the Caribou Do Not Come: Indigenous Knowledge and Adaptive Management in the Western Arctic* (pp. 58-75). UBC Press.

Parlee, B. & Ahkimnachie, K. (2018). *Toolbox: Tracking Change in Wildlife Health: A Guide for Treaty 8 First Nations of Alberta.*

Parlee, B., Manseau, M., & Nation, Ł. K. D. F. (2005). Using Traditional Knowledge to Adapt to Ecological Change: Denésoliné Monitoring of Caribou Movements. Arctic, 58(1), 26–37.

Parlee, B. L., Geertsema, K., & Willier, A. (2012). Social-Ecological Thresholds in a Changing Boreal Landscape: Insights from Cree Knowledge of the Lesser Slave Lake Region of Alberta, Canada. *Ecology and Society*, *17*(2), 20.

Parlee, B. L., Goddard, E., Nation, Ł. K. D. F., & Smith, M. (2014). Tracking Change: Traditional Knowledge and Monitoring of Wildlife Health in Northern Canada. Human Dimensions of Wildlife, 19(1), 47–61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10871209.2013.825823</u>

Parlee, B. L., Sandlos, J., & Natcher, D. C. (2018). Undermining subsistence: Barrenground caribou in a "tragedy of open access." Science Advances, 4(2), e1701611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1701611</u>

Parlee, B., Ahkimnachie, K., Cunningham, H., Magdalena, J., & Goddard, E. (2021). "It's important to know about this" - risk communication and the impacts of chronic wasting disease on Indigenous food systems in Western Canada. *Environmental Science and Policy 123*, 190-201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2021.05.012

Pattengill-Semmens, C. V., & Semmens, B. X. (2003). Conservation and Management Applications of the Reef Volunteer Fish Monitoring Program. In B. D. Melzian, V. Engle, M. McAlister, S. Sandhu, & L. K. Eads (Eds.), Coastal Monitoring through Partnerships: Proceedings of the Fifth Symposium on the Environmental Monitoring and Assessment Program (EMAP) Pensacola Beach, FL, U.S.A., April 24–27, 2001 (pp. 43– 50). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-0299-7_5

Pedersen, S. (2016). *Alberta region chronic disease prevention and management action plan*. Retrieved from https://yellowheadtribalcouncil.ca/community-resources/documents/

Peloquin, C., & Berkes, F. (2009). Local Knowledge, Subsistence Harvests, and Social– Ecological Complexity in James Bay. *Human Ecology*, *37*(5), 533–545. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10745-009-9255-0</u>

Pollock, R. M., & Whitelaw, G. S. (2005). Community-Based Monitoring in Support of Local Sustainability. Local Environment, 10(3), 211–228. https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2005.9684248

Powell, D. and Leiss, W. eds. 1997. *Mad cows and mother's milk: The perils of poor risk communication*. Montreal: Mcgill-Queen's University Press.

Purcell, T. W. (1998). Indigenous knowledge and applied anthropology: Questions of definition and direction. *Human Organization*, *57*(3), 258-272.

Pybus, M. J. (2012). *CWD Program Review 2012*. https://open.alberta.ca/dataset/f8adbf7d-14ce-4ba8-bc2398f11e0f94f0/resource/f54d0e01-f843-49db-b385-fde89a942b00/download/2012-cwd-programreview-may-2012.pdf

Reid, A. J., Eckert, L. E., Lane, J.-F., Young, N., Hinch, S. G., Darimont, C. T., Cooke, S. J., Ban, N. C., & Marshall, A. (2021). "Two-Eyed Seeing": An Indigenous framework to transform fisheries research and management. *Fish and Fisheries*, *22*(2), 243–261. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12516

Ribot, J. C., & Peluso, N. L. (2003). A Theory of Access. *Rural Sociology*, 68(2), 153–181. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1549-0831.2003.tb00133.x</u>

Rivera, N. A., Brandt, A. L., Novakofski, J. E., & Mateus-Pinilla, N. E. (2019). Chronic Wasting Disease In Cervids: Prevalence, Impact And Management Strategies. *Veterinary Medicine : Research and Reports*, *10*, 123–139. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/VMRR.S197404</u>

Rudolph, K. R., & McLachlan, S. M. (2013). Seeking Indigenous food sovereignty: Origins of and responses to the food crisis in northern Manitoba, Canada. Local Environment, 18(9), 1079–1098. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2012.754741</u>

Samson Cree Nation. (2013). *Official name change to Maskwacis (Bear Hills) in place of "Hobbema"*. http://samsoncree.com/name-change#:~:text=Since%201891%2C%20Maskwacis%20has%20also,station%20establish ed%20in%20Maskwacis%20territory.

Samson Cree Nation. (n.d.). About. https://www.samsoncree.com/about/

Sandlos, J. (2001). From the Outside Looking in: Aesthetics, Politics, and Wildlife Conservation in the Canadian North. *Environmental History*, 6(1), 6–31. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/3985229

Saskatchewan Indian Cultural Centre. (2009). *Cultural Teachings: First Nations Protocols and Methodologies*. Saskatchewan Indian Cultural Centre.

Schensul, J. J., Berg, M. J., & Williamson, K. M. (2008). Challenging Hegemonies: Advancing Collaboration in Community-Based Participatory Action Research. *Collaborative Anthropologies*, 1(1), 102–137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/cla.0.0009</u>

Schuler, K. L., Wetterau, A. M., Bunting, E. M., & Mohammed, H. O. (2016). Exploring Perceptions about Chronic Wasting Disease Risks among Wildlife and Agriculture Professionals and Stakeholders. *Wildlife Society Bulletin (2011-), 40*(1), 32–40.

Schultz, R., Abbott, T., Yamaguchi, J., & Cairney, S. (2019). Australian Indigenous Land Management, Ecological Knowledge and Languages for Conservation. EcoHealth, 16(1), 171–176. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-018-1380-z</u>

Settee, P., & Shukla, S. (2020). *Indigenous Food Systems: Concepts, Cases, and Conversations*. Canadian Scholars. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/ualberta/detail.action?docID=6282046

Sharpe, A., & Conrad, C. (2006). Community Based Ecological Monitoring in Nova Scotia: Challenges and Opportunities. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 113(1), 395–409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-005-9091-7</u>

Shtob, D. A. (2019). Remembering the Future: Natural Disaster, Place, and Symbolic Survival. *Rural Sociology*, *84*(1), 123–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ruso.12224</u>

Sikor, T., & Lund, C. (2009). Access and Property: A Question of Power and Authority. *Development and Change*, 40(1), 1–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7660.2009.01503.x</u>

Sillitoe, P. (1998). "The development of indigenous knowledge: a new applied anthropology". *Current Anthropology* 39:223-252

Silvertown, J. (2009). A new dawn for citizen science. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 24(9), 467–471. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.03.017</u>

Slovic, P. (1987). Perception of Risk. Science, 236(4799), 280-285.

Slovic, P. (1993). Perceived risk, trust, and democracy. Risk analysis, 13(6), 675-682.

Smylie, J., & Firestone, M. (2016). The health of Indigenous Peoples. In D. Raphael (Ed.), *Social determinants of health: Canadian perspectives* (3rd ed., pp. 434–469). Toronto, ON: Canadian Scholars' Press.

Spaeder, J. J., & Feit, H. A. (2005). Co-management and Indigenous Communities: Barriers and Bridges to Decentralized Resource Management: Introduction. *Anthropologica*, 47(2), 147–154. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/25606232</u>

Spicer, N., Parlee, B., Chisaakay, M., & Lamalice, D. (2020). Drinking Water Consumption Patterns: An Exploration of Risk Perception and Governance in Two First Nations Communities. *Sustainability*, *12*(17), 6851. http://dx.doi.org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.3390/su12176851

Spoon, J. (2014). Quantitative, qualitative, and collaborative methods: approaching Indigenous ecological knowledge heterogeneity. *Ecology and Society*, *19*(3), 33-43.

Statistics Canada. (2016). *Aboriginal Population Profile, 2016 Census, Samson Cree Nation, Alberta*. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dppd/abpopprof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=AB&Code1=2016C1005427&Data=Cou nt&SearchText=Samson%20Cree%20Nation&SearchType=Begins&B1=All&C1=All&S EX_ID=1&AGE_ID=1&RESGEO_ID=1&TABID=1 Steel, J. R., Atlas, W. I., Ban, N. C., Wilson, K., Wilson, J., Housty, W. G., & Moore, J. W. (2021). Understanding barriers, access, and management of marine mixed-stock fisheries in an era of reconciliation: Indigenous-led salmon monitoring in British Columbia. *FACETS*, *6*, 592-613.

Stenekes, S., Parlee, B., & Seixas, C. (2020). Culturally driven monitoring: the importance of traditional ecological knowledge indicatos in understanding aquatic ecosystem change in the Northwest Territories' Dehcho region. *Sustainability*, *12*, 7923.

Stokes, P., Havas, M., & Brydges, T. (1990). Public participation and volunteer help in monitoring programs: An assessment. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 15(3), 225–229. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00394889</u>

Tarasuk, V. (2001). A critical examination of community-based responses to household food insecurity in Canada. *Health Education & Behavior, 28*(4), 487-499. doi:10.1177/109019810102800408

Thompson, K., Reece, N., Robinson, N., Fisher, H., Ban, N. C., & Picard, C. R. (2019). "We monitor by living here": community-driven actualization of a social-ecological monitoring program based in the knowledge of Indigenous harvesters. *FACETS*, *4*, 293-314.

Tomaselli, M., Gerlach, S. C., Kutz, S. J., Checkley, S. L., & Iqaluktutiaq, C. of. (2018a). Iqaluktutiaq Voices: Local Perspectives about the Importance of Muskoxen, Contemporary and Traditional Use and Practices. *Arctic*, 71(1), 1–14. JSTOR. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/26387326</u>

Tomaselli, M., Kutz, S., Gerlach, C., & Checkley, S. (2018b). Local knowledge to enhance wildlife population health surveillance: Conserving muskoxen and caribou in the Canadian Arctic. *Biological Conservation*, *217*, 337–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.11.010

Tremblay, M., Furgal, C., Larrivée, C., Savard, J.-P., Barrett, M., Annanack, T., Enish, N., & Etidloie, B. (2006). Communities and Ice: Bringing Together Traditional and Scientific Knowledge in Riwe, R. and Oakes, J. (eds) *Climate Change: Linking Traditional and Scientific Knowledge*. Winnipeg: Aboriginal Issues Press.

Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. (2015). *Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada: Calls to Action.* http://trc.ca/assets/pdf/Calls to Action English2.pdf

United Nations. (2007). United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. https://www.un.org/development/desa/indigenouspeoples/wpcontent/uploads/sites/19/2018/11/UNDRIP_E_web.pdf Van Wassenhove, W., Dressel, K., Perazzini, A., & Ru, G. (2012). A comparative study of stakeholder risk perception and risk communication in Europe: A bovine spongiform encephalopathy case study. *Journal of Risk Research*, *15*(6), 565–582. https://doi.org/10.1080/13669877.2011.646290

Vaske, J. J., Timmons, N. R., Beaman, J., & Petchenik, J. (2004). Chronic Wasting Disease in Wisconsin: Hunter Behavior, Perceived Risk, and Agency Trust. *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 9(3), 193–209. https://doi.org/10.1080/10871200490479981

Vaske, J. J., & Miller, C. A. (2018). Hunters and Non-hunters Chronic Wasting Disease Risk Perceptions over Time. *Society & Natural Resources*, *31*(12), 1379–1388. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2018.1463424

Walter, M. & Andersen, C. (2013). *Indigenous Statistics: A Quantitative Research Methodology*. Walnut Creek: Left Coast Press.

Warren, D. Michael, L.J. Slikkerveer and D. Brokensha, eds. *The Cultural Dimension of Development: Indigenous Knowledge Systems*. London: Intermediate Technology Publications, 1995.

Whitelaw, G., Vaughan, H., Craig, B., & Atkinson, D. (2003). Establishing the Canadian Community Monitoring Network. *Monitoring Ecological Change in Canada. Part II*, 88(1–3), 409–418.

Whitney, C. K., Bennet, N. J., Ban, N. C., Allison, E. H., Armitage, D., Blythe, J. L., Burt, J. M., Cheung, W., Finkbeiner, E. M., Kaplan-Hallam, M., Perry, I., Turner, N. J., & Yumagulova, L. (2017). Adaptive capacity: from assessment to action in coastal social-ecological systems. *Ecology and Society*, *22*(2), 22.

Williams, E. S., & Young, S. (1980). CHRONIC WASTING DISEASE OF CAPTIVE MULE DEER: A SPONGIFORM ENCEPHALOPATHY. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases*, *16*(1), 89–98. <u>https://doi.org/10.7589/0090-3558-16.1.89</u>

Willows, N. D. (2005). Determinants of Healthy Eating in Aboriginal Peoples in Canada: The Current State of Knowledge and Research Gaps. *Canadian Journal of Public Health / Revue Canadienne de Sante'e Publique*, *96*, S32–S36. JSTOR.

Wilson, N. J., Mutter, E., Inkster, J., & Satterfield, T. (2018). Community-Based Monitoring as the practice of Indigenous governance: A case study of Indigenous-led water quality monitoring in the Yukon River Basin. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 210, 290–298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.01.020</u>

Wisely, S. M. (2019). Wildlife disease management in the global context. In Koprowski, J. L. & Krausman, P. R. (Eds.), *International Wildlife Management: Conservation Challenges in a Changing World* (pp. 94-111). JHU Press.

Wisner B, Blaikie P, Cannon T and Davis I. (2004) *At Risk: Natural Hazards, People's Vulnerability and Disasters*. London: Routledge

Witmer, G. W. (2005). Wildlife population monitoring: Some practical considerations. Wildlife Research, 32(3), 259–263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/WR04003</u>

Wobeser, G. (2002). Disease management strategies for wildlife. *Revue Scientifique et Technique de l'OIE*, 21(1), 159–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.20506/rst.21.1.1326</u>

World Health Organization (WHO), Convention on Biological Diversity (Organization), & United Nations Environment Programme. (2015). Connecting global priorities: Biodiversity and human health: a state of knowledge review. http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/174012/1/9789241508537_eng.pdf?ua=1

Zimmer, N., Boxall, P. C., & Adamowicz, W. L. (Vic). (2011). The Impact of Chronic Wasting Disease and its Management on Hunter Perceptions, Opinions, and Behaviors in Alberta, Canada. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A*, 74(22–24), 1621–1635. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2011.618988</u>

APPENDIX A: Survey Participant Information Sheet

RESEARCH PROJECT SUMMARY: Tracking Change: Traditional Knowledge of Wildlife Health in Alberta

Dear Participant:

I am working with the University of Alberta on a research project wildlife health in your region. Surveys have been completed with hunters and land users in your community. We would like to carry out interviews with land users to learn more about changes in wildlife health from your perspective including patterns or changes observed and experienced by hunters/land users as well as perspectives on wildlife management.

The research is being carried out in an effort to understand the level of concern and knowledge in local communities about overall wildlife health in the Treaty 6 region.

Timeline: The project is taking place from 2019 and 2020.

Scope: The interview will last about one hour. The interview questions will focus on your knowledge, observations, and experience of changes wildlife health and wildlife management.

Participation, Time Requirement and Honoraria: You will receive an honorarium (gift card) of \$50 to compensate for the time you spend in the interview.

Risks: You are not required to participate in the interview and can choose not to answer questions that are asked and can withdraw (quit) from the interview at any time without prejudice or consequence. You will be asked to sign a consent form to confirm your willingness to participate in the interview, your consent to the use of the interview data in public documents and consent to the storage and ownership of the transcript by the University of Alberta. You can choose to withdraw from the interview at any time without penalty and can choose to withdraw any of your interview material within 3 months from the date of the interview.

Recording, Transcripts and Storage of Transcripts: Your information will be recorded and may be shared publicly (e.g., through a report, publication or thesis). Your name will be used in these public documents unless otherwise indicated by you on the consent form. All results from interviews will be stored at the University of Alberta for five years. Any future use of the data beyond that defined in this project summary will require your consent.

If you have questions or require additional information, please contact: Brenda Parlee Department of Resource Economics and Environmental Sociology Faculty of Agricultural, Life and Environmental Sciences 507 GSB University of Alberta, Edmonton Alberta T6G 2H1 Tel: (780) 492-6825 Fax: (780) 492-0268 brenda.parlee@ualberta.ca

The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta (**Pro00061804**). For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615

SURVEY CONSENT FORM:

Tracking Change - Traditional Knowledge and Wildlife Health Monitoring in Alberta

Researcher: Brenda Parlee

Affiliation: University of Alberta

Purpose: The purpose of the project is to learn more about hunter observations of wildlife health and experiences of wildlife management in Alberta.

Timeline: Surveys will be carried out between 2019-2020

1. You are being asked to complete a survey for our project. Have you understood the attached project summary as you have read it or as I have read it to you?

Yes _____ No ____

The survey will take about 1 hour to complete. Information will be recorded in hand-written notes and on audio recording equipment.

2. Have all of your questions about the survey or research project been answered?

Yes ____ No ____

3. Consent to Interview: Do you understand and agree to participate in this research project as outlined above. Do you understand that you are not required to participate in this research project. You can choose not to complete the survey and can withdraw (quit) the project at any time without prejudice or consequence.

Understand and Agree

Disagree

4. Consent to Use your Name in Public Documents: I would like to use the results of this research in a report and or publications such as journal articles. These will all be public documents. A copy of the final report will be housed at the University of Alberta. Data will not be used in any public exhibition without your permission.

I would like to acknowledge you by name in all research documents and materials, or if you prefer the results of your survey can be coded to Person A or 001 etc. so that the public does not know who shared the information. If there is any information that you would <u>not</u> like to share publicly, please let me know.

I DO ____ want my name to be shared in public documents/ presentations. I DO NOT ____ want my name to be shared in public documents/ presentations.

5. Consent for Storage of your Survey Results

6

Once all surveys are completed, I will share a summary of the findings of the surveys with the technician in your community. I will also keep a copy of the survey you completed for the purposes of reporting and publication. To ensure that your information is valued over the long term, we would also like to store copies at the University of Alberta

I DO ____ want my information stored at the University of Alberta. I DO NOT ____ want my information stored and would prefer that it be destroyed once the research project is completed.

By signing below I am acknowledging that I have read, understand and agree to the above terms and conditions for this interview.

Interviewee _____ Date:

If you require additional information or have any concerns about this project, please contact:

Brenda Parlee Faculty of Agriculture, Life and Environmental Sciences 507 General Services Building. University of Alberta, Edmonton Alberta T6G 2H1 Tel: (780) 492-6825 Fax: (780) 492-0268 <u>brenda.parlee@ualberta.ca</u>

The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. The approval reference is: **Pro00061804**.

For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780) 492-2615

APPENDIX C: Tracking Change: Wildlife Health Survey

Section A: Hunting

How many years have you been hunting in this region?
[] All my life (more than 25 years)
[] The last 25 years
[] The last 10 years
[] Only the last few years
[] I don't hunt

Have the areas that you hunt in this region changed over time? Are there areas that you used to hunt in that you can no longer visit?

If you hunt with others, would you be able to share their names so we can ensure we do not duplicate information?

Section B: Moose Health

How often have you gone hunting for moose in the last 6 months? If answer is 'no hunting trips', do not complete the rest of section B, move on to section C.

- [] No hunting trips
- [] Between 1-4 trips
- [] Between 5-7 trips
- [] More than 7 trips

How many moose did you observe during these trips?

- [] None
- [] A few (between 1-9)
- [] Some (between 10-20)
- [] Many (more than 20)

Were the moose you observed during these trips mostly bulls, females or calves?

Was this more or less than in the last 5 years?

- [] A lot less than previous years
- [] Somewhat less than previous years
- [] Same as previous years
- [] More than previous years
- [] A lot more than previous years
- [] Don't know

How many moose did you harvest during the last six months?

- [] None
- []1-3
- []4-6
- [] More than 6

How would you describe the area (habitat) where you harvested these moose?

How would you describe the condition of the moose you have hunted in the last six months?

[] A lot skinnier
[] Somewhat skinnier
[] Same
[] Somewhat fatter
[] A lot fatter
[] Don't know

How would you describe the condition of antlers of bull moose?

How would you describe the condition of the liver and organs?

Did you notice any ticks?

[] No ticks

[] Some ticks

[] A lot of ticks (more than considered normal)

Did you notice any worms?

[] No worms

[] Some worms

[] A lot of worms (more than considered normal)

Did you notice any changes in the condition of the hide?

[] No marks (lesions)

[] Some marks (lesions)

[] A lot of marks (lesions)

Did you notice any of the following behaviour issues in moose? If you did not notice any of these behaviour issues in moose, leave the boxes blank.

[] Unnaturally sluggish or disoriented

[] Unnaturally aggressive

[] Frothy mouth (foamy)

[] Unnaturally skinny

How concerned are you with the health of moose populations?

[] Not concerned

- [] Somewhat concerned
- [] Very concerned

If you have seen changes in the health, population, or distribution of moose, what do you consider to be the cause of this change? Select all that apply.

[] Natural variability

[] Winter temperature extremes

- [] Summer temperature extremes
- [] Predation
- [] Wildlife disease
- [] Agricultural activity
- [] Clear cutting (habitat loss)
- [] Distance from drilling
- [] Disturbance from roads
- [] Stress from recreational land users
- [] Stress from other hunters
- [] Forest fire

Section C: Deer Health

How often have you gone hunting for deer in the last six months? If answer is 'no hunting trips', do not complete the rest of section C, move on to section D.

[] No hunting trips

- [] Between 1-4 trips
- [] Between 5-7 trips
- [] More than 7 trips

How many white-tailed deer did you observe during these trips?

[] None

[] A few (between 1-9)

- [] Some (between 10-20)
- [] Many (more than 20)

How many mule deer did you observe during these trips?

- []None
- [] A few (between 1-9)
- [] Some (between 10-20)
- [] Many (more than 20)

Do you think you have seen more or less white-tailed deer this year than in the last 5 years?

- [] A lot less than previous years
- [] Somewhat less than previous years
- [] Same as previous years
- [] More than previous years
- [] A lot more than previous years
- [] Don't know

Do you think you have seen more or less mule deer this year than in the last 5 years?

- [] A lot less than previous years
- [] Somewhat less than previous years
- [] Same as previous years
- [] More than previous years
- [] A lot more than previous years
- Don't know

How many white-tailed deer did you harvest during the last six months?

- [] None
- []1-3
- []4-6
- [] More than 6

How many mule deer did you harvest during the last six months?

- [] None
- [] 1-3
- []4-6
- [] More than 6

How would you describe the condition of the deer you have hunted in the last 6 months

- [] A lot skinnier
- [] Somewhat skinnier
- [] Same
- [] Somewhat fatter
- [] A lot fatter
- [] Don't know

How would you describe the condition of the antlers of the bucks?

How would you describe the condition of the liver and organs?

Did you notice any ticks?

- [] No ticks
- [] Some ticks
- [] A lot of ticks (more than considered normal)

Did you notice any worms?

- [] No worms
- [] Some worms
- [] A lot of worms (more than considered normal)

Did you notice any changes in the condition of the hide?

- [] No marks (lesions)
- [] Some marks (lesions)
- [] A lot of marks (lesions)

Did you notice any of the following behaviour issues in deer? If you did not notice any of these behaviour issues in deer, leave the boxes blank.

- [] Unnaturally sluggish or disoriented
- [] Unnaturally aggressive
- [] Frothy mouth (foamy)
- [] Unnaturally skinny

How concerned are you with the health of deer populations?

[] Not concerned

[] Somewhat concerned

[] Very concerned

If you have seen changes in the health, population, or distribution of deer, what do you consider to the cause of this change? Select all that apply.

- [] Natural variability
- [] Winter temperature extremes
- [] Summer temperature extremes
- [] Predation
- [] Wildlife disease
- [] Agricultural activity
- [] Clear cutting (habitat loss)
- [] Distance from drilling
- [] Disturbance from roads
- [] Stress from recreational land users
- [] Stress from other hunters
- [] Forest fire

Section D: Elk Health

How often have you gone hunting for elk in the last six months? If the answer is 'no hunting trips', do not complete the rest of section D, move on to section E.

[] No hunting trips

[] Between 1-4 trips

[] Between 5-7 trips

[] More than 7 trips

How many elk did you observe during these trips?

[] None

[] A few (between 1-9)

[] Some (between 10-20)

[] Many (more than 20)

Do you think you have seen more or less elk this year than in the last 5 years?

[] A lot less than previous years

[] Somewhat less than previous years

[] Same as previous years

[] More than previous years

[] A lot more than previous years

Don't know

How many elk did you harvest during the last 6 months?

[] None

[]1-3

[]4-6

[] More than 6

How would you describe the condition of the elk you have hunted in the last six months?

- [] A lot skinnier
- [] Somewhat skinnier

[] Same

[] Somewhat fatter

[] A lot fatter

[] Don't know

How would you describe the condition of the antlers of the elk?

How would you describe the liver and organs of the elk?

Did you notice any ticks?

[] No ticks

[] Some ticks

[] A lot of ticks (more than considered normal)

Did you notice any worms?

[] No worms

[] Some worms

[] A lot of worms

Did you notice any changes in the condition of the hide?

[] No marks (lesions)

[] Some marks (lesions)

[] A lot of marks (lesions)

Did you notice any of the following behaviour issues in elk? If you did not notice any of these behaviour issues in elk, leave the boxes blank.

[] Unnaturally sluggish or disoriented

[] Unnaturally aggressive

[] Frothy mouth (foamy)

[] Unnaturally skinny

How concerned are you with the health of elk populations?

[] Not concerned

[] Somewhat concerned

[] Very concerned

If you have seen changes in the health, population, or distribution of elk, what do you consider to be the cause of this change? Select all that apply.

[] Natural variability

[] Winter temperature extremes

[] Summer temperature extremes

[] Predation

[] Wildlife disease

[] Agricultural activity

[] Clear cutting (habitat loss)

[] Distance from drilling

[] Disturbance from roads

[] Stress from recreational land users

[] Stress from other hunters

[] Forest fire

Section E: Food on the Table

How many people live in your household?

[]1

[]2-3

[]4-5

[] More than 5

How much of your household's meat is bought from the store?

[] All

[] Most

[] Some

[] None

Do you harvest or receive enough wild meat to meet your family's needs?

[] All

[] Most

[] Some

[] None

How has your diet of moose meat changed since last year?

[] I eat more moose now than I did last year

[] I eat the same amount of moose as I did last year

[] I eat less moose than I did last year

How has your diet of moose meat changed since five years ago?

[] I eat more moose now than I did five years ago

[] I eat the same amount of moose as I did five years ago

[] I eat less moose than I did five years ago

How has your diet of moose meat changed since ten years ago?

[] I eat more moose now than I did ten years ago

[] I eat the same amount of moose as I did ten years ago

[] I eat less moose than I did ten years ago

How has your diet of deer meat changed since last year?

[] I eat more deer now than I did last year

[] I eat the same amount of deer as I did last year

[] I eat less deer than I did last year

How has your diet of deer meat changed since five years ago?

[] I eat more deer now than I did five years ago

[] I eat the same amount of deer as I did five years ago

[] I eat less deer than I did five years ago

How has your diet of deer meat changed since ten years ago?

- [] I eat more deer now than I did ten years ago
- [] I eat the same amount of deer as I did ten years ago
- [] I eat less deer than I did ten years ago

How has your diet of elk meat changed since last year?

- [] I eat more elk now than I did last year
- [] I eat the same amount of elk as I did last year
- [] I eat less elk than I did last year

How has your diet of elk meat changed since five years ago?

- [] I eat more elk now than I did five years ago
- [] I eat the same amount of elk as I did five years ago
- [] I eat less elk than I did five years ago

How has your diet of elk meat changed since ten years ago?

[] I eat more elk now than I did ten years ago

[] I eat the same amount of elk as I did ten years ago

[] I eat less elk than I did ten years ago

How often do you share meat from your hunting trips?

[] Never

- [] Sometimes
- Usually
- [] Always

How often do you eat wild meat?

- [] Never
- [] Less than 3 meals a week
- [] More than 3 meals a week

How much of this meat is harvested by you or your household?

- [] None
- [] Some
- [] Most
- [] All

How much meat do you share outside of your household?

- [] None
- [] Some
- [] Most
- [] All

Do you give wild meat to family living outside your community?

[]Never

[] Sometimes

[] Usually

[] Always

How old are you?

[] Between 18-24

[] Between 25-34

[] Between 35-44

[] Between 45-54

[] Over 55

Are you employed?

[] Yes - full time
[] Yes - part time
[] Yes - casual
[] Yes - seasonal
[] No - not employed

If you are not employed, is there a member of your household that is employed full time or part time?

[]Yes

[] No

Section F: CWD

How much information have you received about Chronic Wasting Disease?

[] None

[] Some

[] A lot

[] Don't know

How concerned are you about wildlife diseases such as Chronic Wasting Disease?

[] Not concerned

[] Somewhat concerned

[] Very concerned

[] Don't know

If you are aware of Chronic Wasting Disease in deer and moose in Alberta, where did you receive this information? Select all that apply.

- [] Community posters
- [] Radio or TV (news)
- [] Community meetings
- [] Others in the community
- [] Mail-outs
- [] I have not heard of it
- [] Other

How much does your level of concern about CWD affect where you choose to hunt?

- [] None
- [] Some
- [] A lot
- [] Don't know

Does your level of concern about CWD affect whether you choose to go out hunting or not?

- [] Yes
- [] No
- [] Don't know

Do you agree with culling (killing) of deer populations to limit the spread of the disease?

- []No
- [] Maybe
- [] Don't know

Would you be willing to participate in monitoring the health of deer and moose populations in your area by submitting tissue samples or heads of harvested deer or moose?

- [] Yes
- []No
- [] Maybe
- [] Don't know